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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREMNEREN MO

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of
Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited (the “Company”), |
hereby present the audited results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “"Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (the "Year"”).

FINAL RESULTS AND FINAL DIVIDEND

The Group’s audited consolidated net loss attributable
to shareholders was approximately HK$16.8 million for
the Year (2023: HK$14.8 million) which was mainly
attributable to the net loss on listed investments and
impairment of financial assets. Loss per share for the Year
was approximately HK$0.06 (2023 HK$0.05).

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Year (2023 Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment company and the
Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 27 October 1999, pursuant to Chapter
21 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). During the Year, the
Group remains principally engaged in listed investments in
Hong Kong and in unlisted companies.

Given the liquidity of stock markets worldwide was
continuously improved during the Year, the performance
of listed investments of the Group enhanced accordingly.
The listed equity investments has posted net realised
loss of approximately HK$2.8 million (2023: HK$23.6
million) and unrealised loss of approximately HK$11.9
million (2023: gain of HK$6.8 million). During the Year,
the Board remained focus on listed equity in Hong Kong.
The Company is cautious in identifying any investment
opportunities to achieve medium-term or long-term capital
appreciation.
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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREMNEREN MO

In order to keep reasonable spread of the Group’s
investments, the Board will maintain a diversified investment
portfolio to cover a wide range of business sectors, including,
but not limited to, companies engaged in sectors such as
finance, consumer goods and services, media, construction,
mining, etc.

The investment portfolio of the Group as at 31 December
2024 mainly comprises of a portfolio of listed shares in 34
companies of HK$106.6 million and investment in unlisted
bond investment in a listed company of HK$18.3 million
which represent approximately 61.7% and 10.6% of the
Group's consolidated net asset value respectively.

In connection with unlisted bond investment, the Group
held an unlisted bond Investment in AMCO United Holding
Limited ("AMCO").

AMCO is a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited
liability and principally engaged in medical device businesses.
The company operates through four business segments,
namely Medical Devices Business, Plastic Molding Business,
Money Lending Businesses and Securities Investment. The
company operates businesses in the regions of Asia, Europe
and North and South Americas. It is listed on main board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 630). Based on AMCO's
interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2024,
its net asset value was approximately HK$35.9 million, its
net current assets were approximately HK$66.8 million.
Accordingly, the Company considers that AMCO has
sufficient working capital to meet the ongoing business,
there is no signal of default of bonds issued by AMCO.

Based on the valuation reports and other relevant documents,
the valuation of the Group's stake in AMCO as at 31
December 2024 were approximately HK$18.3 million. There
was increase in the value of investment in bond investment
in AMCO of approximately HK$0.2 million during the Year.
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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREMNEREN MO

The Group held three significant listed equity investments,
which are WLS Holdings Limited (“WLS") (HKSE stock code:
8021), China Jicheng Holdings Limited (“China Jicheng”)
(HKSE stock code: 1027) and China Investment and Finance
Group Limited (“China Investment”) (HKSE stock: 1226) as
at 31 December 2024.

WLS is principally engaged in the scaffolding and fitting
out services, management contracting services and other
services for construction and buildings work and money
lending business securities brokerage and margin financing
and securities investment business. For the year ended 30
April 2024, the audited consolidated loss attributable to
owners of WLS was HK$11.1 million. The percentage of
fair value of the Group's investment in WLS to the Group'’s
total assets as at 31 December 2024 was approximately
14.5%. The unrealised loss on the Group investments in
WLS during the Year was approximately HK$1.2 million.
WLS expressed in its interim report 2024/25, leveraging
the widespread recognition of the impeccable quality
of services and the strong relationships nurtured with
clientele, WLS receives positive feedback and prominent
business support and takes pride in being one of the
leading scaffolding service providers in Hong Kong. The
Company believes the WLS’s business strategy is in line
with the overall direction of the government's strategic
development plans for property construction, infrastructure
investment and financial market development, and profit
will be generated in medium terms.
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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREMNEREN MO

China lJicheng is principally engaged in the manufacturing
and sale of POE umbrellas, nylon umbrellas and umbrella
parts such as plastic cloth and shaft. For the financial year
ended 31 December 2023, the audited consolidated loss
attributable to owners of China Jicheng was RMB92.8
million. The percentage of fair value of the Group’s
investment in China Jicheng to the Group's total assets
as at 31 December 2024 was approximately 9.1%. The
unrealised loss on the Group investments in China Jicheng
during the Year was approximately HK$3.4 million. China
Jicheng will shift business focus from developing upstream
manufacturing to downstream distribution network and
brand building so as to facilitate promotion of China
Jicheng’s branded umbrellas and create higher values as
well as bringing better return to their shareholders. The
Company believes the China Jicheng’s will continue to
explore the potential of this business opportunities and
utilize its resource with prudence in the future, and China
Jicheng will bring positive return to its shareholders in long
run.

China Investment is principally engaged in the businesses
of investments in listed equities, unlisted debt and
unlisted equities. For the year ended 31 March 2024, the
audited consolidated loss attributable to owners of China
Investment was HK$37.8 million. The percentage of fair
value of the Group's investment in China Investment to
the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2024 was
approximately 6.5%. The unrealised gain on the Group
investments in China Investment during the Year was
approximately HK$5.8 million. Based on China Investment’s
2024 annual report, the management will continue to take
a prudent approach in managing the China Investment'’s
investment portfolio and develop the investment strategies.
Given the increasing influence of China against the global
economy, China Investment will still be based mainly on
Chinese economy, China Investment will continue to look
for investment opportunities which offer outstanding
returns under the acceptable risk in the portfolio of China
Investment. The Company agrees the China Investment’s
strategy to maintain its cautiously optimistic outlook and
explore other suitable investment opportunities which are
able to bring satisfactory and sustainable returns to China
Investment and maximize its shareholders’ value.
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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREMNEREN MO

Performance of the Group’s Listed Securities

The loss on listed securities of approximately HK$14.7
million for the Year represented net realised loss in disposal
of listed securities of approximately HK$2.8 million and
net unrealised loss of listed securities of approximately
HK$11.9 million. Set out below are further information of
these net realised gain and unrealised gain:

Net Realised Loss on Disposal of Listed Securities

The net realised loss on disposal of listed securities of
approximately HK$2.8 million mainly represented the
realised loss on disposal of equity investment in Volcano
Spring International Holdings Limited (HKSE stock code:
1715) and China New Consumption Group Limited (HKSE
stock code: 8275) of approximately HK$1.3 million and
HK$1.5 million respectively.

Net Unrealised Loss of Listed Securities

The net unrealised loss of approximately HK$11.9 million
represented the unrealised gain of approximately HK$10.9
million net of unrealised loss of approximately HK$22.8
million.
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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREMNEREN MO

The unrealised gain principally represented:

RER T B

Unrealised gain

REH W=
Company name HKSE Stock code HK$ million
NEERE ERBXTRMD AR BEABTT
China Investment and Finance Group Limited 1226 5.8
hERREEEBRAT
Hao Wen Holdings Limited 8019 3.0
BEXERERA

In addition to the above two stocks, there is no stock
which brought over HK$2 million unrealised gain to the
Group during the Year.

Br Fall MEMRZEIN RARFEER - BEEEM
xﬂ%ﬁ%l’ﬂtx,ﬂ%z 000,0007C A F 2

The unrealised loss principally represented: REREBEERE:
Unrealised loss
KEBEE
Company name HKSE Stock code HK$ million
NEEH BB A0 R BERETT
SEEC Media Group Limited 205 7.3
MABREBBER QA
China Jicheng Holdings Limited 1027 3.4
PR ERIERER AT
Taste Concepts HoIding Limited 8096 1.7

EZHREZERABRA

In addition to the above two stocks, there is no stock
which incurred unrealised loss on disposal over HK$1.5
million to the Group during the Year.
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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREMNEREN MO

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity, Financial Resource, Capital Structure and
Gearing Ratio

The Group's asset portfolio was mainly financed by
internally generated cash resources. As at 31 December
2024, net current assets of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$154.5 million (2023: HK$152.1 million)
with cash and bank balances of approximately HK$11.4
million (2023: HK$2.0 million).
asset value per share of the Company as at 31 December
2024 was HK$0.48 (2023: HK$0.60). The consolidated
net asset value per share as at 31 December 2024 is
calculated based on the net assets of the Group of
approximately HK$172.0 million (2023: HK$170.3 million)
and 354,818,016 ordinary shares of the Company at par
value of HK$0.001 each in issue as at that date (2023:
281,181,680 shares at par value of HK$0.001 each).

The consolidated net

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had no
outstanding bank borrowing (2023: Nil). The gearing ratio
of the Group was 0.5% as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
0.5%), which is calculated based on the Group’s total
liabilities divided by its total assets. Taking into account of
the amount of liquid assets in hand and available short-
term or margin loan facilities, the Group has sufficient
financial resources to meet its ongoing operational
requirements.

The Board has been actively seeking fund raising
opportunities to strengthen the Company’s financial
position. On 30 October 2024, the Company completed a
placing and has successfully raised approximately HK$14.2
million (before expenses), which are detailed below.
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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREMNEREN MO

On 7 October 2024 (after trading hours), the Company
and Astrum Capital Management Limited (the “Placing
Agent”) entered into a placing agreement (the “Placing
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Placing Agent agreed
to place, on a best endeavour basis, to not less than six
independent placees for up to 59,136,336 new shares
at a price (the “Placing Price”) of HK$0.240 per placing
share (the “Placing”). These new shares rank pari passu in
all respect with the then existing Shares. The Placing was
completed on 30 October 2024.

The Placing Price of HK$0.240 per placing share
represents: (i) a discount of approximately 14.3% to the
closing price of HK$0.280 per share of the Company as
quoted on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 7 October 2024, being the date of
the Placing Agreement; and (ii) a discount of approximately
9.4% to the average of the closing prices of HK$0.265 per
share of the Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange
for the last five consecutive trading days immediately prior
to the date of the Placing Agreement.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries
are securities trading and investment holding. The
Board considered that the Placing represented a good
opportunity for the Company to raise additional funds and
to widen the Company’s shareholder base, and the terms
of the Placing Agreement are on normal commercial terms.
Accordingly, the Directors considered that the terms of the
Placing were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREMNEREN MO

The aggregate gross proceeds of the Placing were
approximately HK$14.2 million and the aggregate net
proceeds of the Placing, after deduction of expenses,
were approximately HK$14.0 million, representing a net
issue price of approximately HK$0.236 per placing share.
The net proceeds from the Placing were intended to be
used for the general working capital of the Group and for
future investments pursuant to the investment objectives
of the Company. As of 31 December 2024, the net
proceeds of approximately HK$1.9 million were used for
working capital and listed investments as intended. The
remaining net proceeds of approximately HK$12.1 million
are expected to be used as intended by 31 December
2025.

Save as the Placing, the Group did not have run any capital
exercise during the Year.

Charge of Assets and Margin Facilities

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, margin facilities
from several regulated securities brokers were granted
to the Group which were secured by the Group's listed
investments. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group had not utilised against these facilities.

Material Acquisitions and Disposal of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

During the Year, the Company does not have any
significant acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures.
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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREMNEREN MO

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 16 employees
(2023: 16), including directors of the Company. They
are remunerated based on their performance, working
experience and prevailing market standards. Employee
benefits include medical insurance coverage, a defined
contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance and share option scheme. There has
been no significant change in the Group's remuneration

policy.

Foreign Currency Fluctuation

The Group's exposures to foreign currencies mainly arises
from its investments in companies located in the PRC,
which are financed internally. In order to mitigate the
potential impact of currency fluctuations, the Group
closely monitors its foreign currency exposures and will use
suitable hedging instruments against significant foreign
currency exposures, where necessary. No foreign currency
hedge contract was entered into by the Group during
the Year. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no
outstanding foreign currency hedge contracts (2023: Nil).

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital
Assets and Their Expected of Funding in Coming Year
As at 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report,
the Company does not have any concrete plan for material
investments or capital assets.
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PROSPECTS

The general expectation of decrease in the rate of US
Dollars and the upsurge of artificial intelligence are the
main themes of the global investment market in Year
2024. Both Dow Jones Industrial Average Index (“DJI")
and Hang Seng Index (“HSI”) recorded increases in this
year. DJI rose by 12.9% from 37,689 points as at the last
trading day of 2023 to 42,544 points as at the last trading
day of the Period. HSI's performance was similar to that of
DJI. HSI rose by 17.7% from 17,047 points as at the last
trading day of 2023 to 20,060 points as at the last trading
day of the Period.

Although DJI recorded increase in Year 2024, the outlook
of US economy may not be such positive. Following the
US election in November 2024, US equity prices soared
on expectations that a combination of tax cuts and
deregulation would boost US economic growth, thereby
increasing corporate profits. Yet, since that time, most
of the economic news has focused on tariffs rather than
taxes. Tariff increases are expected to be inflationary and
potentially lead to tighter monetary policy. In addition,
tariff increases are expected to subdue aggregate demand
by reducing consumer purchasing power. Finally, tariffs are
expected to hurt the competitiveness of US manufacturers
by boosting the cost of imported inputs. Thus, it is not
surprising that US equity price indices have fallen back
toward the pre-election level. Plus, it is not surprising that
equity prices in other markets have fallen on fears of the
potential impact of tariffs. There have been especially
sharp declines in equity prices for automotive companies
in early 2025, in anticipation of massive supply chain
disruption due to trade restrictions.
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China, the largest economy in the East, has been in a
different economic cycle to the West. Over the last few
years its economy has been under pressure from a historic
housing downturn, but coming into 2024 some promising
signs have started to emerge. In particular, outperformance
in the manufacturing sector has contributed to economic
stability and improved the growth outlook. High-
end manufacturing such as electric vehicles, industrial
automation, digitalization, together with supply chains are
all growing at a fast pace. While these higher value-add
sectors are a decade in the making, they are now having a
bigger impact on the macro cycle.

Elsewhere, after two years of deceleration, a range of
indicators are looking more mixed. This could be a sign
of a bottoming out from a cyclical perspective. While the
overall state of consumption is weak, and “consumption
downgrade” is still a clear theme, volume growth is
staying resilient. Purchasing Managers’ Indexes (PMI)
are still diverging — but with more cyclical components
bottoming out. Exports have started to do better. In the
housing market, some analysts consider policymakers are
now more focused on preventing further slowdown. While
structurally slower growth in the housing sector is still our
base case, stability and marginal improvement are good
news for the rest of the economy.

The China economy looks better than that in US, and we
would continue to focus on our investment in China and
Hong Kong markets. However, tariff wars launched by the
US and the potential appreciation of Japanese Yen may
have significant impact of the investment markets. We
believe the risks and chances co-exist in the worldwide
investment environment in the coming year. We will
continue to monitor the market dynamics, and adopt a
conservative approach on investments, so as to enhance
value to our Shareholders.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to express our appreciation to the staff and
management team of the Group for their contribution
during the Year and also to give our sincere gratitude to
our shareholders for their continuous support.

By order of the Board
Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited
BEBFEXELERLT

SHUM Kit Lam Anita
Executive Director

Hong Kong
20 March 2025
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Biographical Details of Directors
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. SHUM Kit Lan Anita, aged 63, was a licensed person
to carry out type 9 (asset management) regulated activities
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance. Ms. SHUM
has a wealth of working experience in securities advisory,
corporate finance, corporate management and fund
management. Ms. Shum was appointed as an executive
director (“Director”) of Harbour Digital Asset Capital
Limited (formerly known as “Unity Investments Holdings
Limited”) in November 2014.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. YE Ying, aged 43, has many years’ solid experience
in finance industry in Mainland China. Ms. YE was the
general manager of a sub-branch company of China
Life Insurance Company Limited from 2003 to 2005, the
general manager of banking insurance department of The
People’s Insurance Company (Group) of China Limited from
2005 to 2007, and the Head of sub-branch of Agricultural
Bank of China Limited from 2007 to 2011. She is currently
the Chief Executive Officer, a director and controlling
shareholder of GBI Global Financial Group Limited ("GBI"),
a private company established in Hong Kong. The principal
business of GBI is investment of the assets of Ms. YE and
her family. She was appointed as a non-executive Director
and the Chairman of the board of Directors in November
2021 and January 2022 respectively.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. HUNG Cho Sing, aged 84, has over 30 years of
experience in the film distribution industry and founded
Delon International Film Corporation in 1970. Mr. HUNG
has been the chairman of Hong Kong, Kowloon and New
Territories Motion Picture Industry Association Limited
since 1991 and was the chairman of Hong Kong Film
Awards Association Limited from 1993 to 1995. Mr. HUNG
was appointed by the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (“HKSAR”) Government as a member of the
Hong Kong Film Development Council from 2007 to
31 March 2013. Mr. HUNG was also appointed as a
consultant of the China Film Association since 2013.
Mr. HUNG is also a member of HKSAR Election Committee
and a vice chairman of the Cultural Profession Committee
of the Guangdong, Hong Kong and Macau Cooperation
Promotion Council (ERE BB REERESGLEX
ZEgRFEZE). Mr. HUNG was awarded the Bronze
Bauhinia Star (BBS) by the HKSAR Government in 2005
in recognition of his contribution to the Hong Kong Film
industry. Mr. HUNG has been appointed by the HKSAR
Government as a non-official member of the Working
Group on Manufacturing Industries, Innovative Technology,
and Cultural and Creative Industries under the Economic
Development Commission since 17 January 2013. He has
been the vice chairman of Film Association of Guangdong,
China since November 2016. Mr. HUNG was appointed
as independent non-executive Director in October 2014.
Mr. HUNG is currently an independent non-executive
director of each of Oshidori International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 622), KOALA Financial Group Limited (stock
code: 8226) and China Star Entertainment Limited (stock
code: 326). He was an independent non-executive director
of each of Miko International Holdings Limited (stock code:
1247) during the period from April 2016 to June 2023 and
hmvod Limited (stock code: 8103) during the period from
April 2023 to September 2024. Mr. HUNG is an executive
director of EJE (Hong Kong) Limited. The listing of the
shares of EJE (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited (the Company)
was cancelled on 21 December 2022. All these companies
are listed on either the Main Board or the GEM of the
Stock Exchange.
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Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun, aged 59, is currently a deputy
general manager of a watchcase factory. She has over
20 years’ ample experience in the watchcase production
industry, and has a wealth of experience in marketing,
business operation and management. Ms. Chung was
appointed as independent non-executive Director in
December 2014.

Mr. YU Tat Chi Michael, aged 60, holds a bachelor of
commerce degree from the University of New South Wales,
Australia. He is a fellow member of the CPA Australia
and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. YU is also a founding member
of The Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive Director
Association. Mr. YU has many years of experience in
accounting, corporate finance and asset management. He
had held senior management positions in several listed
companies in Hong Kong. He is currently an executive
director of Sino Splendid Holdings Limited (a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8006)
and also an independent non-executive director of each
of Golden Resources Development International Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 677), China Netcom Technology Holdings
Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 8071), WT Group Holding Limited (a company
listed of GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8422),
and Lerado Financial Group Company Limited (a company
limited on Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
1225). Mr. YU was an independent non-executive director
of Novautek Technologies Group Limited (formerly known
as: Applied Development Holdings Limited) (listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 519) from
September 2016 to December 2024.
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Directors’ Report
EEEWE

The directors (the “Directors”) of Harbour Digital
Asset Capital Limited (the “Company”) herein present
their report and the audited financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the
“Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are investment
holding. During the Year, the Group was principally
engaged in listed investments in Hong Kong, main stock
markets around the world, and also in unlisted companies.

The segment information of the Group for the Year is set
out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Group’s loss for the Year and the state of affairs of the
Company and the Group as at 31 December 2024 are set
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 100,
175 and 101 to 102, respectively.

No interim dividend was paid by the Company during the
Year (2023: Nil) and the Board does not recommend the
payment of a final dividend for the Year (2023 Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Fair review of the Company’s business and likely
future development

Please refer to “Chairman’s Statement & Management
Discussion & Analysis” on pages 4 to 16.

Principal risks and uncertainties
Please refer to note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Environmental Protection

The Group has taken an initiative to promote employees’
awareness of environmental protection and the need to
achieve efficient utilisation of resources through launching
paper recycling and setting auto power saving mode on
the Company’'s computers in offices.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group's principal activities are investments in listed
or unlisted financial instruments in Hong Kong and
elsewhere. The Company has to invest in accordance
with the restrictions stated in its articles of association.
Meanwhile, the Company is a company listed in Hong
Kong. The Group also has to comply with the Listing
Rules. During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up
to the date of this report and to the best of the Directors’
knowledge and belief, the Group has complied with the
relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong and other
jurisdictions as far as its investments are concerned.

Company’s key relationships with its employees

The Group has provided employees with opportunities to
advance their career. The Group’s policy is to encourage
employees to take part in professional examinations,
seminars and training courses related to their roles and
duties through leave grants. Competitive remuneration
is also offered to employees and their performance is
reviewed on an annual basis reflecting each employee’s
contributions to the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the audited financial statements, is set out on page
176. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL BR 2

Details of the movements during the Year in share capital KATIRARARNEE RN SBFFSEHNLT
of the Company are set out in note 20 to the consolidated AR FHTEE20 o

financial statements.

RESERVES #E

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company RNBIHERNEERNZ BH§EFIBSHRLLEG
during the Year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated AT HEE29 o

financial statements.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT EEREEIRBEESY
The directors of the Company during the Year and up to RAEENRAEEAERBE AQNF &
the date of this annual report are as follows: ES/INE

Executive Director: HITES:

Ms. SHUM Kit Lan Anita RR KL
Non-executive Director: IEHITESE:

Ms. YE Ying BEeE+

Independent Non-executive Directors: BIEHITES:

Mr. HUNG Cho Sing HEE KA

Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun BEEY L

Mr. YU Tat Chi Michael EESLE

Ms. YE Ying, Ms. SHUM Kit Lam Anita, Mr. HUNG Cho EETH 2Lt EEELE EE
Sing, Ms. CHUNG Fai Chum and Mr. YU Tat Chi Michael Pt RhaELELEBRERIRERE X
shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual general @ LigESR  WEFSERBEEERET-
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-

election.

22 ANNUAL REPORT 2024 Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited



Directors’ Report
EEEWE

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
A report on the principal corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out on pages 31 to 54.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST-PAID EMPLOYEES

Particulars of the emoluments of the Directors and the
five highest-paid employees of the Group during the Year
are set out in notes 10(a) and 10(b) to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTEREST AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

Save as 750,000 shares held by Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun, and
the information disclosed in “SHARE OPTION SCHEME" in
Director's Report and elsewhere of this annual report, as
at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company had or were deemed to have
any Discloseable Interests or Short Position in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which
were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies contained in
the Listing Rules (collectively “Discloseable Interests or
Short Positions”).
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed in “SHARE OPTION SCHEME" in
Directors’ Report, at no time during the Year was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities
(including debentures) of, the Company or any other body
corporate, neither the Directors nor any of their spouses or
children under age of eighteen, had any right to subscribe
for the securities or debt securities of the Company or had
exercised any such rights.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party to and in which
Directors had a material interest in, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and
their respective associates had any interest in a business
which causes or may cause a significant competition
with the business of the Group and any other conflict of
interests which any such person has or may have with the
Group.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company's articles of association and
subject to the provisions of the statutes, every Director
or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against
all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise
in relation thereto, and no Director or other officer shall
be liable for any loss, damages or misfortune which may
happen to or be incurred by the Company in the execution
of the duties of his office or in relation thereto, provided
that the Company’s articles of association shall only have
effect in so far as its provisions are not avoided by the
Companies Law of Cayman Islands. The Company has
maintained Directors and officers liability insurance during
the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company
as detailed in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by
the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of
the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

The Company has not entered into any contract with any
individual, firm or corporate entity to manage or regulate
the whole of any substantial part of the Company’s
business.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Set out below is the schedule of movement of the
Company’s Options during the year ended 31 December

BT

Tﬁﬁﬂ$/7@i;;;@¢+ A
=t RIHEEBBES B

2024:
Number of
Number of Number ~ Number of Options Number of
Options held  of Options Options  cancelled/  Options held
as at granted exercised lapsed as at
1January  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe 31 December
Category Date of Grant Exercise Price  Option Period 2024 year year year 2024
RZZZQRE R=2=mE
-R-8 REER REER rEER tZA=t-H
BEZ Rz iz #8/X%2 KE2
Ehl RHBH i@ BREDR BREHE BREZE BREHR BREHR BREHE
Directors
g3
Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun 11 May 2021 HK$0.316 Three years from date of grant 750,000 - (750,000) - -
BBy LT ZI--FRAT-B BN ERLBEECE
Employees (in aggregate) 11 May 2021 HK$0.316 Three years from date of grant 16,500,000 - (13,750,0000  (2,750,000) -
E&(4#) ZTC-FRAT-B A%03en  ERMAHE=F
28 June 2021 HK$0.305 Three years from date of grant 5,000,000 - - (5,000,000) -
ZEC-ERACTAR BR300t  BREAHE=E
12 May 2022 HK$0.800 Three years from date of grant 22,000,000 - - (2,750,000) 19,250,000
CECCFRATCR O AM0sT EREAER=F
28 June 2022 HK$0.780 Three years from date of grant 5,500,000 - - - 5,500,000
ZEZZERAZTNR B%0780m  BRHBHEZE
Total 49,750,000 - (14500000) (10,500,000) 24,750,000
5

No Options were exercised during the year ended 31

December 2024.

The outstanding 49,750,000 Options as at 1 January 2024
and 24,750,000 Options as at 31 December 2024 were

with immediate vesting period.
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As the Option Scheme has lapsed in April 2023, no Option
was available for grant under the scheme mandate as at
1 January 2024, 31 December 2024 and the date of this
report.

As no Option was granted during the year, the number
of shares that may be issued in respect of the Options
granted under the Option Scheme during the Year divided
by the weighted average number of shares in issue for the
same year is 0%.

Further details of existing share option scheme adopted by
the Company on 30 April 2013 are set out in note 21 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group provides a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance to all staff. Under the MPF
Scheme, employer and employees are each required to
make mandatory contributions to the MPF Scheme and
contributions to the MPF Scheme vested immediately.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S SHARE

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
listed securities of the Company.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2024, there was no person who had
any interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no material transactions with
its related parties during the Year.

The Directors conducted review of the related party
transactions of the Group during the Year and were not
aware any transaction requiring disclosure of connected
transactions in accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
articles of association of the Company although there are
no restrictions against such rights under the laws in the
Cayman Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
as at the date of this annual report, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float in compliance with
Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company was established
in January 2003. As at the date of this report, the Audit
Committee comprises all INEDs, namely Mr. YU Tat Chi
Michael, Mr. HUNG Cho Sing and Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun.
Mr. YU Tat Chi Michael is the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The Audit Committee, along with management, has
reviewed the consolidated results of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024, including accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and also discussed
matters such as internal controls, risk management, audit
and financial reporting, including a review of the audited
consolidated financial statements, for the financial year
ended 31 December 2024.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER
RULE 13.51B OF THE LISTING RULES

Mr. HUNG Cho Sing retired from his office as an
independent non-executive director of hmvod Limited
(stock code: 8103) on 27 September 2024.

Mr. YU Tat Chi Michael resigned as an executive director
of Novautek Technologies Group Limited (stock code: 519)
with effect from 30 December 2024.
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AUDITOR

Elite Partners CPA Limited will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of Elite Partners CPA Limited as auditor of
the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited

BBBFERELRRAT

SHUM Kit Lan Anita
Executive Director

Hong Kong
20 March 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is dedicated to an ongoing
enhancement of effective and efficient corporate
governance standards. The Board believes that high
corporate governance standards are essential in providing
framework for the Company to safeguard the interests
of the shareholders and to enhance corporate value and
accountability. The Company has applied the principles set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “"CG Code”)
contained in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”), the
Company has complied with all code provisions set out in
the CG Code, except for code provision C.2.1, details of
which will be explained below.

Based on Code provision C.2.1, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
should be clearly established and set out in writing. The
Company has not appointed the Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer since the resignation of Mr. NG
Chi Hoi on 1 August 2016. Ms. YE Ying was subsequently
appointed as the Chairman of the Board with effect from
3 January 2022. The Board’s current significant decisions
are made in Board meetings. Every Board member has
the rights and responsibility to propose Board meetings
to discuss significant issues he/she concerns, and has the
power to make the decisions among other Board members.

The practice of the corporate governance of the Company
will be reviewed and updated from time to time in order
to comply with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code"”) as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as
the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
the directors of the Company. Upon specific enquiry by
the Company, all Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards as set out in the
Model Code for the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
an executive Director, namely Ms. SHUM Kit Lan Anita; two
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. YE Ying (Chairman of
the Board) and Ms. HU Xiaoting; and three independent
non-executive Directors (“INED(s)”), namely Mr. HUNG
Cho Sing, Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun and Mr. YU Tat Chi
Michael. None of the Directors are, in any respect, related
to each other in any circumstances. Mr. YU Tat Chi Michael
has appropriate professional accounting experience and
expertise. The Board membership is covered by recognised
professional accounting and experienced personnel so as
to bring in valuable contribution and professional advice
for the development of the Company. None of Directors
has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation. Biographical details of each of
Director are set out on pages 17 to 19.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Board, at all times, has met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs
representing at least one-third of the Board and at least
one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Board has received written annual confirmation from
each of the INEDs in respect of his/her independence in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board
considers all INEDs are independent under the definition of
the Listing Rules.

Mr. HUNG Cho Sing, Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun and Mr. YU
Tat Chi Michael has no specific term of appointment. All
INEDs are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at general meeting of the Company in accordance with
the articles of association of the Company.

Responsibility, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board

The Board’s responsibilities is not limited to formulating
corporate strategies and setting up of business
development plans, but to also monitor and supervise the
performance of management and review the effectiveness
of internal controls including the scope of financial,
operational, compliance,
preparing and approving financial statements of the
Group. Directors, collectively and individually, are aware
of their responsibilities to shareholders, for the manner
in which Company business and affairs are managed and
operated. All Directors, including INEDs, have brought a
wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

risk management, as well as
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All Directors have full and timely access to all the
information of the Company as well as the service and
advice from the company secretary and management
of the Company. The Directors may, upon request,
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

All Directors have grave concern, sufficient time and
attention to all significant issues and affairs of the Group.
Day-to-day management, administration and operation of
the Group are delegated to the executive board members.
Executive Board meetings are convened when necessary
to deal with day-to-day matters that require the Board'’s
prompt decision, and therefore it is usually that only
executive Directors would attend. Each executive Director
has accumulated sufficient and valuable experience
to hold his/her position in order to ensure that his/her
fiduciary duties can be carried out in an effective and
efficient manner. The Board has established three board
committees,
Committee and Nomination Committee (collectively
the “Board Committees”) for overseeing particular
Company'’s affairs.

namely Audit Committee, Remuneration

The composition and functions of each committee are
described below. These committees have specific functions
and authority to examine issues and report to the Board
with their recommendations (if appropriate) for the
decision of the Board.
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Meeting Records SRR

The number of Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and RAFEAN SEEHFEEEEH £ 8
General Meetings attended by each Director during the  E&ZNMBEARE ZNEEN TE - FEHRA
Year is set out in the following table. Figure in brackets ZHFHEAFEANAEBALTETEETER
indicates maximum number of meetings in the Year in EBXZEgKE (RIBERMT)HABFTETT
which the individual was a Board Member or Committee  Z&ZEZNE -

Member (as the case may be).

Number of meetings attended/held

HE/ETEERE
Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Board Committee Committee  Committee meetings
Name of Director EENP EEXg EitZEg FHZEEE REZEE. RRAE
Executive Director HTES
Ms. SHUM Kit Lan Anita LEBRL 7/(7) N/A N/A N/A 11(1)
TiEf T TER
Non-executive Director FHUTEE
Ms. YE Ying ERat 3/(7) N/A N/A N/A 0/(1)
TiEf T TER
Independent non-executive BUKBTES
Directors
Mr. HUNG Cho Sing HEERHE 7/(7) 2(2) 11(1) 1/(1) 11(1)
Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun BEY T 7/(7) 2/(2) (1) 1) 0/(1)
Mr. YU Tat Chi Michael FEFLE 7/(7) 2(2) 11(1) 1/(1) 11(1)
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors

All Directors, including the INEDs, should keep abreast
of their responsibilities as Directors and the Company's
business and activities. The company secretary continuously
update all Directors on the latest developments regarding
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements
to ensure compliance of the same by all Directors. All
Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant training
courses and seminars that may require keeping abreast
with the latest changes in laws, regulations and the
business environment.

Pursuant to Code provision C.1.4, Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. During the Year, all Directors
have participated in appropriate continuous professional
development activities either by attending training courses
or by reading materials relevant to the Company’s business
or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities. The
Company has received from each Director a confirmation
of their participation in continuous professional
development by attending training course or reading
relevant materials on the topics related to corporate
governance and regulations.
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Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on the Company’s
Nomination Policy and will take into account this
Policy. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to
the Board, having due regard to the benefits of diversity
on the Board and also the needs of the Board without
focusing on a single diversity aspect.

The Board would ensure that appropriate balance of
gender diversity is achieved with reference to stakeholders’
expectation and international and local practices. The
Board also aspires to having an appropriate proportion of
directors who have direct experience in the Group’s core
markets, with different ethnic backgrounds, and reflecting
the Group’s strategy.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five
directors. Three of them are women. Two of the female
directors is non-executive Directors (including INED),
thereby promoting critical review and control of the
management process.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Based on provision Code C.2.1, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
should be clearly established and set out in writing.
The Board’s current significant decisions are made in
Board meetings. Every Board member has the rights
and responsibility to propose Board meetings to discuss
significant issues he/she concerns, and has the power to
make the decisions among other Board members.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees: the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee, with specific responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company was established
in January 2003. As at the date of this annual report,
the Audit Committee comprises all INEDs, namely
Mr. YU Tat Chi Michael, Mr. HUNG Cho Sing and
Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun. Mr. YU Tat Chi Michael is the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include but are
not limited to the following:

o to consider and review the appointment, resignation
and removal of external auditor and their fees and
supervision on whether any non-auditing services
has been provided by external auditor and giving of
advice to the Board on employment of auditor

o to liaise with the Board and discuss with the external
auditor about issues of significance during the audit
of the Group

o to review the interim and annual results of the
Group
o to review the report from the external auditor in

relation to continuing connected transactions

o to discuss and monitor with management on the
effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting
system, and risk management and internal control
systems

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee is adopted
on 16 March 2012 and updated on 31 December 2015,
which is consistent with the CG Code and is published
on the website of the Company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and has access to independent
professional advice if considers necessary.
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Code provision D3.3 of the CG Code stipulates that
members of the Audit Committee should meet at least
twice a year with the Company’s auditor regarding review
of the Group’s financial information including the financial
statements and annual report and half-year report. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, there were two
meetings which were held between the Audit Committee
and the Company's auditor to review and discuss the
Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 December
2023 and the interim report for the six months ended 30
June 2024. The Audit Committee has reviewed the related
results announcements and reports of the Group and has
submitted the same to the Board for approval. Members
of the Audit Committee were of the opinion that the
preparation of such two sets of financial statements and
related results announcements were in compliance with
the applicable accounting standards, the Listing Rules
and legal requirements in relation to financial reporting.
Number of attendance of the Audit Committee meetings
are disclosed under the section headed “Meeting Records”
above.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was
established in September 2005 with specific written terms
of reference, which was adopted and updated on 16
March 2012 and 30 December 2022 to comply with the
CG Code. The Remuneration Committee has the delegated
responsibility to determine the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management. The
Remuneration Committee also has the responsibility to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors. The specific terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee is available on the
website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration
Committee comprises all INEDs, namely Mr. HUNG Cho
Sing, Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun and Mr. YU Tat Chi Michael.
Mr. HUNG Cho Sing is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge its duties. One meeting
was held during the Year to review the remuneration
package of existing Directors. No Director, or any of
his/her associates, and executive is involved in deciding
his/her own remuneration. Number of attendance of the
Remuneration Committee meetings are disclosed under
the section headed “Meeting Records” above.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in March
2012 with terms of reference to deal with the nomination
of the Director, which includes reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board and to recommend
matters in relation to appointments or re-appointments
of Directors. The terms of refence were adopted on 29
March 2012 and updated on 31 December 2018. This is
to ensure that the composition of the Board meets the
requirements of the Listing Rules and that the Board is
capable to fulfill its obligations in terms of fiduciary duties
and can act in the best interest of the members of the
Company. The Nomination Committee is provided with
sufficient resources enabling it to discharge its duties. The
specific terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
is available on the website of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination
Committee comprises all INEDs, namely Mr. HUNG Cho
Sing, Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun and Mr. YU Tat Chi Michael.
Mr. HUNG Cho Sing is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee. One meeting was held during the year ended
31 December 2024 to review the composition of the Board
and rotation of retiring Directors at the annual general
meeting; and to take up the delegated responsibilities
from the Board to review the Board Diversity Policy as
approved by the Board. Number of attendance of the
Nomination Committee meetings are disclosed under the
section headed “Meeting Records” above.
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Nomination Policy
The Board has adopted the following policy for the
nomination of directors (the “Nomination Policy”).

Selection Criteria

In determining the suitability of a candidate, the
Nomination Committee and the Board shall consider the
potential contributions a candidate can bring to the Board
in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence
and gender diversity. The Nomination Committee and the
Board shall consider the following selection criteria, which
are not meant to be exhaustive:

o the candidate’s personal ethics, reputation, character
and integrity;

o the candidate’s qualifications, skills, knowledge,
business judgment and experience that are relevant
to the operations of the Group;

o the diversity perspectives set out in the Board
Diversity Policy of the Company (as amended from
to time);

o the candidate’s availability including time commitment

to discharge his or her responsibility as a Director,
including being able to devote sufficient time to
attend Board meetings, participate in induction,
trainings and other board and Company associated
activities (In the case of a candidate who will
be nominated as an independent non-executive
Director will be holding his or her seventh (or
more) listed company directorship, the Nomination
Committee should consider the reasons given by the
candidate for being able to devote sufficient time to
discharge his or her responsibility as an independent
non-executive Director.);
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o the candidate for the position of an independent

non-executive Director must comply with the
independence criteria as prescribed under the Listing
Rules (as amended from time to time);

° the current size and composition of the Board, the
needs of the Board and the respective committees of
the Company;

o the succession planning of members of the Board
to ensure the leadership continuity and smooth
functioning of the Group; and

o any other factors that the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board may consider appropriate.

The Nomination Committee and the Board shall ensure
that the composition of the Board is in conformity with
the laws of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and all
other applicable laws and regulations.

Nomination Procedures

The recruitment, identification, evaluation, recommendation,
nomination, selection and new appointment or re-appointment
of each proposed Director shall be assessed and considered
by the Nomination Committee and the Board against the
Selection Criteria as set out in this Policy. In the context of
appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board:

o the Nomination Committee may take such measures
that it considers appropriate in connection with
its identification and evaluation of candidates,
including, amongst others, considering referrals from
the Directors, shareholders, management, advisors
of the Company;
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. the Nomination Committee shall identify and e REZBSAHBIBTEREAND
ascertain the character, qualification, knowledge and TQ B HBAK R W IREA
experience of the candidate and undertake adequate ETAIPHNRRBRESLS K&
due diligence in respect of such candidate; and

. the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations e REELEEE TEFT % SRR AR
by submitting the candidate’s personal profile to the AN R TESE %Fg

Board for its consideration.

In the context of re-appointment of any existing member  HMEHZTAMBEEETSKEMS ' 1RF
of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall make é/\.z./,je“@ % it ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ%
recommendations to the Board for its consideration and  EAZEREAE F2EHER
recommendation for the candidate to stand for re-election

at general meeting.

For each proposed new appointment or re-appointment HEBMEZETEENHEZTXNEFTEZEMS
of a Director, the Nomination Committee shall obtain all RZZESERERSHSEN KL ETHR
applicable declarations and undertaking as required under  BIJEU{S AT/ i F3 B9 &2 AR A &G ©

the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Listing Rules.

In the case of a nomination for the position of an HREBUIFNTESNBRT BEKEE
independent non-executive Director, the Nomination  Z@BRERZMEBERBAFAE ETHRBIFTE
Committee shall ensure that the concerned candidate BN AR LE

meets the independence criteria as prescribed under the

Listing Rules.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters ¥HBREARBEARSG L28 (REER)
relating to the recommendation of candidates to stand for KB EE BEESHARLRTIE-
election (and re-election) at a general meeting.

The ultimate responsibility for the selection and &?Ei%ﬂ”)ﬁiv\ﬁﬁi$§
appointment of Directors rests with the entire Board. fé
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

No corporate governance committee has been established
and the Board is responsible for performing corporate
governance functions. This includes developing and
reviewing Company's policies, practices on corporate
governance, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, and the
Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements etc. During the year ended
31 December 2024, the Board has reviewed the Company’s

policies and practices on corporate governance.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group's
system of risk management and internal controls and for
reviewing their effectiveness to safeguard the shareholders’
investment and the assets of the Group. These risk
management and internal control systems are designed to
manage risks rather than eliminate risk of failure to achieve
business objective, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss; and to ensure the reliability of financial information
for both internal use and external publication and to
provide reasonable assurance against material statement
or loss and achievement of the Group’s objective.

Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

To ensure the efficient and effective operation of the
business and operations, relevant internal control
procedures have been set up for safeguarding assets
against unauthorized use or disposition, controlling
over capital expenditure, maintaining proper accounting
records and ensuring the reliability of financial information
used for business and publication. These procedures are
monitored and reviewed from time to time and updated
where necessary.
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The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification
o Identifies risks that may potentially affect the key
processes of the Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment
o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment
criteria developed by the management; and

o Considers the impact on the business and the
likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response
o Prioritizes the risks by comparing the results of the
risk assessment; and

o Determines the risk management strategies and
internal control processes to prevent, avoid or
mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the
risk and ensures that appropriate internal control
processes are in place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal
control processes in case of any significant change
of situation; and

o Report the results of risk monitoring to the
management and the Board regularly.
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The management has carried out periodic review of
the procedures and the implementation of the risk
management and internal control (“"RM and IC") systems,
including areas covered accounting, business and legal
compliance.

The Board has in place an internal audit function within
the Group as required under code provision D.2.5 of the
Corporate Governance Code. To further strengthen the
internal control of the Group, the Company has engaged
an independent professional adviser (the “Internal
Control Adviser”) to perform independent appraisal of
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s RM and IC
systems. The Internal Control Advisor has conducted an
annual review of and made recommendations to improve
the effectiveness of the Group’s RM and IC systems (the
“RM and IC Review").

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit
Committee, with the assistance of the Internal Control
Adviser, reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s RM and
IC Systems in various aspects including revenue and receipt
cycle, taxation cycle and price sensitive information. The
Internal Control Adviser carried out the RM and IC Review
on the above cycles and executed the RM and IC Review
which involves the following tasks:

1. Conducting interviews with relevant management
and staff members relating to the risk management
and internal controls

2. Conducting walk-through relating to the RM and IC
Review
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3. Reviewing relevant documentation relating to the

RM and IC Review

4. Identifying significant deficiencies in the design of
the risk management and internal controls

5. Communicate the significant findings with the
management so as to confirm the factual accuracy
of the findings

After the RM and IC Review, the management provided an
action plan so as to mitigate those identified deficiencies
in a timely manner. All internal control findings would
be followed up closely to ensure that the action plan is
implemented accordingly.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board
was satisfied that the Group’s RM and IC processes are
adequate to meet the needs of the Group in its current
business environment and that nothing has come to its
attention to cause the Board to believe the Group’s RM
and IC Systems are inadequate. Moreover, the existing
RM and IC Systems are effective and adequate, and will
continue to be reviewed, added on or updated to provide
for changes in the operating environment.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has adopted a policy on disclosure of Inside
Information in respect of procedures and internal control
for the handling and dissemination of inside information
in a timely manner pursuant to Rule 13.09 of the Listing
Rules and the Inside Information Provision under Part XIVA
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
the preparation of the Group's financial statements in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, as well as the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They believe that
such financial statements give a true and fair view of the
Group's affairs and its results. The Directors confirm, to
the best of their knowledge, information and belief, and
having made all reasonable enquiries, that they are not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cause significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The
Board therefore continues to adopt the going concern
approach in preparing the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The reporting responsibilities of the Directors and the
external auditor of the Company, Elite Partners CPA
Limited, on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 92 to
99.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the
fee paid/payable to Elite Partners CPA Limited in respect
of audit and non-audit services were HK$342,000 (2022:
HK$380,000) and HK$38,000 (2022: HK$nil), respectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. ONG King Keung, who is an associate director of an
external service provider, reports to the executive director
of the Company and assists the Board in functioning
effectively and efficiently. He has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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DIVERSITY

To improve the performance of the Company, the Board
has adopted policies on board diversity. The Board believes
that board diversity can be achieved by taking into account
various factors, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, race, professional
experience, skills, knowledge, term of services and other
talents. All the appointments have been made based on
the Company’'s business models and specific needs from
time to time, and candidates have been assessed with
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board on
objective business conditions. The nomination committee
will be mainly responsible for identifying suitable and
competent candidates for Board members and assessing
such candidates in light of objective conditions. As a part
of the annual performance review for the efficiency of the
Board, considerations of the nomination committee will
be balanced between skills and experience as required for
accomplishing the business targets of the Company and
diversity factors. To achieve board diversity, the nomination
committee will discuss and develop measurable objectives
from time to time, and propose the same to the Board
for adoption and implementation. Generally speaking,
the selection of candidates by the nomination committee
shall be based on a range of diverse perspectives
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background,
skills, knowledge and term of services. However, the final
decision will depend on the strengths of the candidates
and their prospective contributions to the Board. The Board
may improve one or more diversified perspectives from
time to time, and measure the progress on such basis.
The nomination committee will review the policy from
time to time, including conducting assessments on the
effectiveness of the policy. The nomination committee will
also discuss any amendment that may be necessary, and
submit amendment proposals to the Board for approval.

race, professional experience,

Please refer to the disclosure in page 67 of this annual
report for the gender ratio of the Company’s employees as
at 31 December 2024.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings
Pursuant to Article 89 of the articles of association of
the Company, extraordinary general meeting(s) shall be
convened on the written requisition of (i) any two or more
members of the Company; or (ii) any one member of the
Company which is a recognised clearing house (or its
nominee) deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong (Room 1006, 10th Floor, 299QRC, 287-299
Queen’s Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong) or, in the
event the Company ceases to have such a principal office,
the registered office (Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands)
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionist(s), provided that such requisitionist(s) held
as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company, which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company. If the Board does not proceed duly to convene
the meeting within 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting
in the same manner, as nearly as possible, in which these
meetings may be convened by the Board provided that
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of
the requisition. All reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director

Pursuant to Article 161 of the articles of association of
the Company, no person other than a Director retiring at
the meeting shall, unless recommended by the Directors
for election, be eligible for election as a Director at any
general meeting, unless a notice is signed by a member
(other than the person to be proposed) who is duly
qualified to attend and vote at the meeting. Such notice
is given with his intention to propose such person for
election as well as a notice signed by the person to be
proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have
been lodged at the head office (Room 1006, 10th Floor,
299QRC, 287-299 Queen’s Road Central, Sheung Wan,
Hong Kong) or at the registration office (Tricor Tengis
Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong). This must be provided at the minimum length
of the period, during which such notice(s) are given, shall
be at least seven days and that the period for lodgment
of such notice(s) shall commence no earlier than the
day after the despatch of the notice of general meeting
appointed for such election and end no later than seven
days prior to the date of such general meeting. Details of
the procedures for nomination of Directors for election are
available on the Company’s website (www.hdca913.com).

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who have enquiries about shareholders’
rights or have enquiries to the Board may write to the
Company Secretary of the Company at the principal place
of business in Hong Kong at Room 1006, 10th Floor,
299QRC, 287-299 Queen’s Road Central, Sheung Wan,
Hong Kong. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries. For the avoidance of
doubt, the shareholder(s) must provide their full name,
contact details and identification in order for the Company
to reply.
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EXE

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Board is well aware of the importance of maintaining
proper contact with shareholders and strives to enhance
its communication with them. Shareholders can visit the
website of the Company (www.hdca913.com) for the
latest information of the Group,
annual reports, announcements, circulars and corporate
governance related policies. Press releases are also posted
on the website of the Company in a timely manner.

including interim and

General meetings serve as a communication channel
between the Board and shareholders. The Group regards
such a meeting as an important activity of the Company
during the year. All Directors and senior management
would attend the meeting as much as they can. The
chairman of the annual general meeting proposes separate
resolutions for each of the independent matters. Members
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee, external auditors,
independent financial advisers and external lawyers would
also attend the general meeting to answer questions
from shareholders as appropriate. During the year, the
Company held one annual general meeting. Details of
each Director’s attendance at the general meetings are set
out in “Meeting Records” above.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing through the company
secretarial department whose contact details are as
follows:

The Company Secretarial Department,

Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited

Room 1006, 10th Floor, 299 QRC, 287-299 Queen’s Road
Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong
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The Company’'s shareholders’ communication policy is
regularly reviewed to ensure its effectiveness. During
the year, the Company has reviewed the shareholders’
communication policy and confirmed that it has been
effectively implemented.

Dividend Policy

According to the dividend policy adopted by the Company,
in deciding whether to propose a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take
into account the following factors:

the Group’s future operations and earnings;

o the Group’s capital requirements and surplus;

o the general financial conditions of the Group;

o contractual restrictions on payment of dividends;
and

o any other factors that the Board consider relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company
shall be determined at the sole discretion of the Board and
shall be subject to any restrictions under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association
of the Company. The dividend policy of the Company
will continue to be reviewed from time to time and there
can be no assurance that dividends will be proposed or
declared in any particular amount for any given period.
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The Board aims to ensure that its shareholders and
investors are well informed of key business imperatives
in a timely and accurate manner. Extensive information
about the Company’s activities was provided in its annual
report, interim report, announcements, and circulars which
are made available on the website of the Stock Exchange
and the Company (www.hdca913.com). Printed copies of
annual report, interim report, circular, notice of meetings
and proxy forms will also be sent to the shareholders of
the Company in a timely manner as required under the
Listing Rules.

Constitutional Documents of the Company

In order to bring the Articles of the Company in line with
Appendix A1 to the Listing Rules which has come into
effect on 1 January 2022, the amended and restated
Articles were adopted by way of a special resolution passed
by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting held
on 15 June 2023. An updated version of the Company’s
Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of
Association is available on the website of the Stock
Exchange and the Company (www.hdca913.com).
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ABOUT THE GROUP

Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited (hereinafter referred
to as the “Company”, and its subsidiaries collectively
referred to as the "Group”) is an investment company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands whose shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) under Chapter 21 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the "Listing Rules”) since 27 October 1999
and investing in securities constitutes its ordinary course of
business.

The principal activities of the Group are to invest in
both listed and unlisted companies. The Group's current
core portfolio comprises of mainly small to medium-
sized companies with good asset backing and/or growth
potential.
of industries and sectors including, but not limited to,
companies engaged in sectors, such as finance, consumer
goods and services, media, construction, mining, etc.

The Group’s portfolio covers a wide array

ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Group is pleased to present its Environmental, Social
and Governance ("ESG") Report (the “ESG Report”)
for the year ended 31 December 2024. This ESG Report
describes the sustainable development performances,
approaches and measures implemented by the Group.

The information disclosed in this ESG Report covers all the
operations in Hong Kong during the financial year ended
31 December 2024 (the “Year”) unless otherwise stated.
Compared with last year, there was no major change in
the reporting scope.

This ESG Report has been prepared according to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide,
which is Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules. We followed the
four reporting principles, namely materiality, quantitative,
balance and consistency, throughout the preparation of
this ESG Report.
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1. Materiality: ESG issues that have major impacts on
investors and other stakeholders must be set out in
this ESG Report.

2. Quantitative: If the key performance indicators (KPIs)
have been established, they must be measurable and
applicable to valid comparisons under appropriate
conditions. They must also be able to describe the
purpose and impacts of quantitative information.

3. Balance: This ESG Report must provide an unbiased
picture of the ESG performance of the Company.
It should avoid selecting, omitting, or presenting
formants that may inappropriately influence a
decision or judgement by the reader.

4. Consistency: This ESG Report should use consistent
statistical methodologies to allow meaningful
comparisons of related data over time. Any changes
to the methods used must be specified in the ESG
Report.

Further information about our policies and measures
in corporate governance is available in the “Corporate
Governance Report” section in our Annual Report. We
actively listen to opinions in order to provide stakeholders
with a quality report with useful information. We highly
appreciate feedback, including comments on this ESG
Report or suggestions about our sustainability strategy.
Your feedback is valuable for the Group’s continuous
improvement. Please feel free to offer your comments and
suggestions via email at investors@hdca913.com.
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SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

The Group acknowledges that sustainability is a significant
factor for our growth in the long term. We have been
dedicated to being a corporate citizen with a sense of
social responsibility and considering sustainability during
the decision-making process and daily operation.

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
has the overall responsibility for our ESG strategy and
reporting, including evaluating and determining our ESG-
related risks and ensuring that appropriate and effective
ESG risk management and internal control systems
are in place. The Board leads and provides direction to
management by instituting ESG policies and initiatives,
supervising their implementation and monitoring ESG
performance.

The management of the Company executes the ESG
strategies and practices determined by the Board, as
well as directly monitors ESG-related risks and internal
controls. Material ESG issues will be discussed and
reviewed during the Board meetings at least once a year
and the compilation of the ESG Report. The management
shall make recommendations to the Board and advise on
risk mitigating actions as appropriate. Specific reduction
targets may also be set if the environmental issues are
material to the Group's operation.

The everyday implementation of the Company’s ESG
approach relies on the ESG Working Group. Key
responsibilities include implementing locally-tailored
policies and programmes in support of the Company’s ESG
objectives, strategies, priorities, initiatives and goals.

With the assistance of an Internal Control Advisor, the
Audit Committee periodically reviews and assesses our
internal control system to maintain the effectiveness of its
functions. The continuous monitoring and improvement of
risk management and internal control system can enhance
our governance and sustainable development.
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RESPONSIBILITY TO OUR STAKEHOLDERS

The Group is devoted to engaging our stakeholders and
continually enhancing our ability in creating values for
them. We identify key stakeholders according to our
business and operation characteristics. We listen and
respond to their reasonable concerns through various
means of communication, including but not limited to
the annual general meeting and other regular shareholder
meetings, the official website, emails, publications such as
annual reports, interim reports and other announcements
and notices, etc.

The Group has identified the key stakeholders, who affect
our business or who are affected by our business, and
maintain an open and transparent communication platform
in our daily businesses. The Group expects continuous
improvement of our communication system, to proactively
facilitate idea exchange and knowledge sharing. The below
table demonstrated the adopted communication channels
for engaging our stakeholders.

Major Stakeholder Areas of Concern

HiFHENSEE
AEBEORBEIFNE  TNEHEARMS
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FROS BRI (0 E - HIfTRBREEAS
AR EENENGERT 258
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AREg BB BB FERE FHRSE
FHRPAREM AT MBES -

REEBDHANZERMEBR R BMER
TENEERHE TERMHBEERBEF
R —EARBERANBBTE ANEEHE
RFESCERMBB RS LUEREE DR
RmEA#HEZ - TRINRABRMPETRD
ES2HEMRBRBRERE

Communication Channels

FEEHHE BT B & BBRE
Stock Exchange e Compliance with listing rules e Announcements on the Stock
Exchange website
e Discussions and meetings as necessary
e Emails and other correspondences
Bt 32 P o FWRAIMER o EEIFTARULH) DD
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Major Stakeholder Areas of Concern

Communication Channels

FEROE BE B E BIERE
Government and e Laws and regulations e Site visits and audits

regulatory bodies Fulfilment of tax obligation

BT K B5E o R ARA
s BITMKEE
Shareholders and e Return on investment
investors e Information disclosure
e Protection on rights and
interests of shareholders and
fair treatment of shareholders
REREESE o HEME
o EBRIEE
-% & I R A K i
NEEFRER

e Regular declarations

e Public notice of new laws and
regulations

e Reports and other publications on
their websites

o HEEREZE

e TEHRW

o A RBROIH N E

o TEHMPUATIEWE R HAM T E R

e Annual and general meetings of
members

e Annual reports, circulars,
announcements and other disclosures/
publications

e Company website/Disclosures on the
Stock Exchange website

e Group email managed by designated
employees

e BMERBFAGMHAMBREZ

o FWR-BEK- A RHAMBEE I
B

o DAL/ BBH ML AMHIE

s HEABENEEEHK
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Major Stakeholder Areas of Concern

Communication Channels

FEHHE BXEE BBERE
Employees e Salaries and welfares e Regular meetings
e Protection of employee’s rights e Employee training
and interests e Intranet and emails
e Health and safety e Regular employee activities
e Feedback opportunities
(== o FrBitE A s FHIEZ
o RiEEBREN MER o EEEII
s BELLZE o ANEAKER
e REMSE e THIEEEH
Community e Environmental protection e \Voluntary activities
e Contribution to the community e Community visits
= o RRRE o ELEH

o HEAz[MOIE

We also treasure the opinions of our valuable employees.
Employees can communicate with management and
provide their feedback directly and transparently. We
consider that views from different stakeholders enable
us in refining our strategies and setting the pace in the
pursuant of sustainability.

The Group is committed to investing in quality assets and
acting in the best long-term interests of our shareholders.
We recognize the value of making sustainable returns
in the long run. The Board is responsible for approving
all investment/divestment decisions and formulating the
Group's overall investment strategies and guidelines in
accordance with the investment objective and policies of
the Group.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

A materiality assessment was performed in order to
identify sustainability topics that are material and relevant
to the Group. To identify potential material topics for
disclosure in the ESG Report, we took reference to the ESG
Reporting Guide and set possible topics for assessment.
Integrating feedback collected and management’s
evaluation, we identified “Quality of Investment”,
“Corporate Governance”, “Anti-corruption” and “Talent
Attraction and Retention” as the material ESG issues to
the Group and its stakeholders. This exercise facilitated us
in aligning our sustainability priorities with stakeholders’
expectations and focusing on the material and relevant
issues.

Aspects Material ESG Issues
B m EKRESGEE

ERMFMA
BPEETEZ MG ABNE A EEE
EABMHBENAREERZE - BHEANRN
ESGIREFHENBEERNZHE HMD2
EESGHMEHRSILRFEREFTRERE 45
BNENRERERLREREE  BAIEE
(EEE] [EEER] IREF] T
SIRBEB AT | BAKBEMRERNENEX
ESG#ERE < i A TIER BN B I Al 58 %
ROEAEHERFNENHERT 20 A
BEREXRKAMZERE

B. Social Aspect
B.AEEE
B1. Employment

B1.EfE

B3. Development and Training

B3. R MIE

B6. Product Responsibility
B6. Em & (£

B7. Anti-Corruption

B7. R&E 5

Employee welfare

Inclusion and equal opportunities
Talent attraction and retention
BERAN

BARFEHKSE
AA RS R E

Development and training

TR R

Quiality of investment
REES

Corporate governance
Anti-corruption
PEER

RES
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OUR ENVIRONMENT

Being an investment company, we are also conscious of
our investment decision and the potential impact on the
environment contributed by our investment. When the
investment opportunity arises, we would consider the risk
and return dynamics of the projects as well as the potential
positive and negative environmental effects caused by the
projects.

During the Year,
environmental protection laws and regulations that had

the Group did not violate any

a significant impact on the Group relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes, including but not limited to Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Cap. 311), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap.
354), Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358) and

Noise Control Ordinance (Cap. 400).

Emissions and Use of Resources

We have no manufacturing plant or company-owned
vehicle and do not produce direct air emissions. Our
environmental impact is mainly due to the consumption
of electricity, water and office supplies and the indirect
greenhouse gas emission generated therefrom. The
electricity supply, water supply and sewage discharge are
under the exclusive control of the owner and the property
manager of the office premises. We are unable to obtain
electricity and water usage data for disclosure purposes.

The daily water consumption is mainly supplied by the
municipal water network, and there is no difficulty
in sourcing water. Due to our business nature as an
investment holding company, our operation does not
involve any significant water and energy consumption.
Therefore, we are not able to set quantitative reduction
targets on energy consumption, water consumption and
thus greenhouse gas emissions.
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Despite that, we adhere to low-carbon operations in an
effort to reduce energy and resource consumption. In the
coming years, we are targeted to raise the employees’
awareness on energy conservation, water conservation and
reduction of greenhouse gas emissions by encouraging
the measures below to minimize our impacts on the
environment.

BE W BPHDBRHERGE S - Bl e
RERBFE - RARREE BPNERE
BT EREUA TR R EE = B THEHRE
IKEOR A B = REEHEDT mE B R AR
BAORPIERIBEOTE -

o

Maintain the room temperature of the office at an energy-efficient and comfortable level,

i.e. between 24°C and 26°C

MR EERENENEEREFEKY - A124°CE26°C

Maximize the use of natural light and install energy-efficient lighting where practicable

RAREMFA B AL E/ITHIER T %

KENL IR

Prioritize the purchase of electrical appliances with energy efficient labels

BRBEFAMERERNESR

Remind employees to turn off non-essential lighting and office equipment

TeBE(E B RPN T B AR M A 5k

Set computers to sleep instead of using screen savers when not in use

BT AREAERME - MIEERFRIZRF

Swiftly notify the property management about any dripping or leaking pipes and faucets for

quick maintenance

AR E 8 MK BE SRR AR - BB EE R R RETRE G E

Waste Management

Since the Group does not produce physical products, no
hazardous waste was generated and no packaging material
has been used. General refuse from our office mainly
consists of paper, aluminium cans and plastic bottles. We
estimate that less than 0.1 tonnes of non-hazardous waste
were generated in our office during the Year, similar to
that of the previous year. The Group targets to increase
the recycling rate of the paper and raise the employee’s
awareness on waste reduction in the coming years.
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The Group also supports waste sorting and recycling. We — AEB IR HEY D 8RB - B AFI45 7] 78
dispose rechargeable batteries at designated collection EBAEMEENIETREM  H»FHABBHOK
boxes and segregate used papers, letters and envelopes for R E1F REHETOW - BE REBAKET
recycling. Although the Group has not established a waste S JEEE BiZ - EAEBB IR HAEHKEK
reduction target, the Group aims to increase the paper  BIUWE  WHEEHITE ZREHK BT E K
recycling rate in the office and continue to develop more  SEEERFVFEHR EEFER R LER
recycling methods for waste paper. The Group advocates  FIF&Y [4R | REI WHEREUA 778 :

the "4R" principles of Reduce, Reuse, Replace and Recycle

with actions as follows:

mm Reduce

A E A

e Use double-sided printing and photocopying whenever possible
o Promote “Think Twice Before Copy” in the office to avoid unnecessary printings
o AJEefE AR EITEN RAEED

. E#ﬂ#"*%&ﬁ [=RmigH ] AEE A UERFTH

Reuse

EEER

e Reuse single-sided paper whenever possible

e Reuse pen shafts with ink refills rather than disposing them

e Encourage staff to reuse stationery, e.g. used envelop and document folder
o RUEERMFABEEAR

s WRBUNEEGEAER  MIFEERRERER

o HEBETISHEFEANXE - fIIFERBOEI KR

Replace

R

e Encourage the use of electronic communication means, e.g. emails and soft copies instead of
letters or fax

e \Whenever possible, adopt virtual meeting and teleconferencing instead of business travel to cut
unnecessary trips and the greenhouse gas emission therefrom

o HEMFAETEASRN  HINEHRE TR - MIFHEHFREE

o FAMKAEHRGELEFSHERBTLEE WIS TLERNLITRALEERREREYN

I

e Except papers containing confidential information, all waste paper is sent to paper mills
or scrap paper collectors

e Send printer cartridges to producer for recycling

e Make sure that the recyclables collected are collected by professional recyclers for proper
recycling

o BRBEEHEmERMMRIN  PIEERDREENHEERRER

o ITENMBEXTAEREITEMN

o FERPTUER AT AR RIS - MEZETERTA
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The Group believes we have reduced our emissions
and conserved resources through these actions. We
will continue to identify opportunities to improve our
environmental performance.

Use of Packaging Material

Given our business nature, the Group does not have
manufacturing facilities and does not consume a significant
amount of packaging materials.

The Environment and Natural Resources

As our operation is office-based, we do not induce a
substantial negative impact on the environment. The
Group strictly complies with applicable environmental laws
and regulations, such as the Waste Disposal Ordinance
(Cap. 354), and is committed to promoting a green office.
We adopt environmentally friendly measures so as to
achieve green operation. The Group recognizes that the
emission of greenhouse gases is one of the factors leading
to climate change. Although there are no industrial or
commercial processes in the daily operation, the Group will
still promote a green lifestyle among the employees and
strive to reduce the use of energy and other resources. The
Group will do its part to reduce emissions while ensuring
that it continues to grow and prosper.

Climate Change

The Group recognizes that climate change is a global
challenge and may affect the communities and business
operation in a negative way. Since the Group does not
have any manufacturing plant or supply chain, our major
operations will not be materially impacted by climate-
related issues.
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Nevertheless, the acute physical risks may still pose danger
to our employees. Extreme weather conditions, such as
typhoons, heavy rains, heat waves and storms, will be
intensified and more frequent. To safeguard the safety
of the employee during extreme weather conditions,
the Group sets its internal guideline on adverse weather
arrangements in times of typhoons, rainstorms and
extreme conditions after super typhoons. The Group would
stay alert to any announcements by the local governments
on weather conditions and prepare for emergency actions.

Besides, transition risks due to policy and regulatory
change may lead to the devaluation of the portfolio held
by the Company. These potentially stranded assets may
lead to unpredicted fluctuation in the Group’s value.
Therefore, climate-related issues and trends are considered
when making significant business and investment decisions
after weighing their costs and benefits. For example,
climate risks should be considered before adding the
new investment choice to the Group’s portfolio. The
Group will consider developing guidance for climate risk
identification, mitigation and adaptation to help the
portfolio to build resilience to these potential climate
events.

OUR PEOPLE

We rely on our talented employees to provide outstanding
investment services with professional and informed
decisions. We value the contributions of our staff to the
operation and sustainable development of our business.
We understand the importance of attracting, developing
and retaining talents by providing them with an excellent
working environment and achieving mutual success
together with the Group.

Employment and Labour Standard

We protect the legitimate rights and benefits of employees
and strictly comply with the Employment Ordinance (Cap.
57), the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282),
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap.
485), the Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608) and other
relevant laws and regulations on employment and labour
standards.
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/DfF

S

Total workforce: ETHAH:

Employment 2024 2023 Unit

1= 1% —B-ME —T-=F BEf

Total number of employees 16 16 Employee

BB B8 (==

By Gender Male 8 7 Employee

tiog Rl F- o) St {=3=]
Female 8 9 Employee
pegid (==

By employment type Full-time 7 7 Employee

RIERER SIS - (==
Part-time 9 9 Employee
5 B (==

By age group <=30 1 0 Employee

REWRAR S 308K AT {=3=]
31-40 4 4 Employee
31-405% ®E
41-50 6 6 Employee
41-507% ==
>50 5 6 Employee
505% A I ®E

BEBTEEXEAABRAA 2024 F3§
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Employment 2024 2023 Unit

(] —EDNE T =4 B

By employment category Managerial 0 0 Employee

®RIEBRR S ERE ==
Senior level 5 5 Employee
= & (=3=]
Middle level 1 1 Employee
K ==
Junior level 10 10 Employee
N (=3=]

By function Executive 5 5 Employee

B EeEl D AT ==
Technical 1 1 Employee
R At ==
Production 10 10 Employee
7 ot ==

By geographical region Hong Kong 9 9 Employee

7 it [ &l e (==
China 7 7 Employee
a8 ==
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Talent Attraction and Retention

We offer competitive remuneration, promotion
opportunity, compensation and benefit packages to attract
and retain talents. Our remuneration package comprises
basic salary, MPF, five-day working week, medical insurance
and share option scheme. The package is determined with
reference to the qualifications, performance and work
experience of the individual as well as the market rates.
We have specified standard working hours, holidays and
rest periods, remuneration and welfare, compensation and
dismissal in employment contracts. Employees are provided
with sick and injury leaves, maternity and paternity leaves
and other entitlements according to the laws of Hong
Kong.

The Group is committed to supporting and developing its
staff to enable them to carry out their work effectively and
fulfill their potential. Staff appraisals will be conducted
in comfortable surroundings and free from interruptions
annually to encourage an honest exchange of views.
Remuneration packages are reviewed periodically based on
our operating results, individual performance and market
information. Employees may be promoted on basis of their
performance in the current jobs and the extent to which
they demonstrate the attributes required for the higher
grade.

Meanwhile, any appointment, promotion or termination of
the employment contract would be based on reasonable,
lawful grounds and internal policies, such as the staff
handbook. The Group strictly prohibits any kind of unfair
or unreasonable dismissals.
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Employee turnover rate: EBERKE:
Employment 2024 2023 Unit
E® ZEDNFE T _=F B
By Gender Male 0 0 %
%R E 5 Bt
Female 12 0 %
e
By employment type Full-time 14 13 %
REREERNE S -
Part-time 0 0 %
R FBL
By age group <=30 0 0 %
REWRARNE D 30BR AT
31-40 0 0 %
31-4075%
41-50 0 0 %
41-50%%
>50 18 0 %
507% MA =
By employment category Managerial 0 200 %
ZEBERMNE D EIEE
Senior level 0 0 %
=R
Middle level 0 150 %
R
Junior level 10 0 %
ES
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Employment 2024 2023 Unit
ER® —EWE —T--F Bf
By function Executive 0 0 %
mEeeEl D AT
Technical 0 0 %
Al
Administrative 0 0 %
1T
Production 10 0 %
PE in
By geographical region Hong Kong 1 0 %
wi & &l o EB
China 0 0 %
H
Equal Opportunities FEHE
The Group adheres to the principles of fairness and  AEEIETFAFRAEEEHRA] KR
mutual respect. We comply with, in all material respects, FIEEATEHETESTFSEHEeELES

the following ordinances and the relevant codes of
practice issued by the Equal Opportunities Commission
of Hong Kong: Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap.
480), Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 487),
Family Status Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 527), and
Race Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 602). We treat all
employees and candidates equally and avoid any forms
of discrimination, including age, gender, marital status,
pregnancy, disability, religion and ethnicity, in recruitment,
remuneration and promotion.

WA E T FMEE R AR TR TR (R

BAEH) (5480F)  GRREBIEH) (5

487% ) (R EE AL R IEH) (F5275)

K (ERRIEARIED) (F602F) -HMFE

HEMBERERFEEA ERE -FHLE

FHE&ECTANERANES SFEFKR 1T
Bl IEIEARR R BB R R AE R
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Anti-child and Forced Labour

The Group does not tolerate any child or forced labour.
We ensure all new joiners meet the minimum age for legal
employment through the recruitment process. To combat
illegal employment of child and forced labour, the Group’s
human resources department requires job applicants to
provide valid identity documents before confirmation of
employment to ensure that the applicants are lawfully
employable. All the personal information provided during
recruitment should be real and effective. If there is
any mendacious information, the Group will terminate
employment according to relevant laws and regulations.
The Human Resources Department of the Group is
responsible to monitor and ensure compliance with the
latest relevant laws and regulations that prohibit child
labour and forced labour.

The Group has not identified any significant non-
compliance with laws and regulations relating to
employment, recruitment and dismissal, equal
opportunities or other issues regarding labour standards
during the Year. As at the end of the Year, the total
number of employees was 16.

Health and Safety

The group undertakes to safeqguard the health and safety
of its employees and expects all employees to strictly
observe the Company's health & safety policies. As an
investment company, all our staff work in offices and
are not exposed to significant health and safety risks.
Nevertheless, potential injury hazards from slips, trips and
falls for staff remain.
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In 2024, no fatalities occurred in the workplace, aligning
with the absence of such incidents in 2023. This
demonstrates a steadfast commitment to safety, with
consistent efforts to prevent fatal accidents on-site. The
rate of work-related fatalities remained at 0% for both
years, underscoring the efficacy of implemented safety
protocols in preserving employee well-being. Furthermore,
there were no instances of lost workdays due to injuries in
either 2024 or 2023, highlighting ongoing efforts to foster
a secure and healthy work environment, thereby reducing
the occurrence of accidents and maintaining uninterrupted
productivity.

In order to prevent work-related injuries and ensure the
well-being of our employees, the following measures have
been implemented:

Strictly prohibit smoking in office to safeguard indoor air quality

BERLERE - MREZAZREE

R ZNF TR EE EEMLT
EH E_TFUENEEH BB
FPETHLZ2NETEAR UHEZHHIE
WIGBE R BN AMEFE - 8T 1EH
R T R IF 0% REBHERNE
PIREEMEES TR ERERE - 1oh
TECMER T -_=FHAHBREILE
MBRXTIEAMIBER RAKRMEESHE
B REMIERE KRB
EWRETEEEE S

A7 T B N RERE 8 HAE AL - T2 R
AT 78

Ensure adequate ventilation and suitable lighting for efficient daily operations

BREZNERLEENRE - UBRSHHEEET

Provide adjustable office chairs and computer monitors to facilitate good posture and reduce eye strain
RETABHMR OB REMRBERSR  UARRFNEZ RBEERERS

Keep common areas of the office, such as corridors and pantry, hygienic and tidy

RERAZNAERE > fINERRIKENEERRR

Provide occupational health guidelines for staff to raise their awareness

RETRMHBERERS - WESRENZH

Regularly clean the air conditioning equipment
ERERE RS

Prepared a first-aid kit in the office in case of emergency

ERDXEEBESREUABRESER
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The Group strictly abides by the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance (Cap. 509) or other relevant laws and
regulations on health and safety. During the past three
years, including the Year, no cases in relation to work
injuries or fatalities were recorded. We were not aware
of any significant non-compliance with the applicable
regulations on occupational health and safety during the
Year.

Development and Training

We recognize the importance of staff training and
development for the mutual growth of both the Group and
our employees. We encourage the continuing education of
our directors and employees to further enhance their skills,
acquire professional knowledge and keep abreast of the
latest developments in the industry, through participation
in training organized by professional bodies. The company
secretary provides regular briefings to the directors to
ensure they understand the updates on statutory and
regulatory requirements and are fully aware of their roles
and responsibilities.
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Percentage of trained employees: FillEEESL:

Development and Training 2024 2023  Unit
TR R —EB-MF —Fo=F B
Total number of employees trained 7 7  Employee
Xillfe BB (=]
Percentage of total employees trained 43.8 43.8 %

XIEEBEHEBEDL

By Gender Male 37.5 429 %
R lIE- oy S
Female 50.0 444 %
el
By employee category Managerial 0 0 %
RESHRE D ERE
Senior 100.0 100.0 %
=R
Middle 20.0 100.0 %
R
Junior 0 10 %
IR
By Function Executive 60.0 100.0 %
REEEE D AT
Technical 100.0 100.0 %
Pt
Production 30.0 10,0 %
PE ot
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Average training hours completed:

TERZ TR

Development and Training 2024 2023  Unit
TR R —EB-NF —Fo=F B
Average training hours per employee 0.6 0.4  Hour/employee
BREENTFHIIEH NS
By Gender Male 0.6 0.4  Hour/employee
ol F- o) St NEEE
Female 0.6 0.4  Hour/employee
gl NS
By employee category Managerial 0.0 0.0  Hour/employee
REBERE D EEE N/ EE
Senior 1.0 1.0  Hour/employee
= AR B
Middle 0.5 1.0 Hour/employee
R N EE
Junior 0.0 0.1 Hour/employee
M AN
By function Executive 1.0 1.0 Hour/employee
e E D M7 ANV
Technical 1.0 1.0  Hour/employee
50} AN
Production 0.4 0.1 Hour/employee
ER INSYL =
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OUR PEOPLE

Supply Chain Management

The Group’s suppliers mainly include securities brokers,
professional service providers for legal, advisory and other
services, as well as various suppliers for office equipment
and hardware. Our supply chain is simple and the
environmental and social risk involved is relatively low. As
the Group is principally engaged in investment, the Group
did not have major suppliers in the Year and will ensure
the suppliers in the future will not have non-compliance
incidents or notable adverse impacts on business ethics,
environmental protection, human rights and labour
practices.

In 2024, there were no recorded suppliers within the
supply chain management system, reflecting a similar
scenario to the previous year, 2023. Specifically, there
were no suppliers identified across any geographical
region, including Hong Kong. This indicates a need for
further exploration and potential expansion of the supplier
network to enhance the resilience and diversity of the
supply chain in the coming years.

We consider qualifications, compliance, business scale
and reputation when choosing suppliers. Our suppliers
are expected to comply with national and local laws and
regulations relating to business conduct, environmental
protection and other business practices. If a supplier is
found in non-compliance with our policies or contractual
provisions, we will suspend the business relationship until
the irregularity has been rectified.
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Product Responsibility

Quality of Investment

Our investment team is responsible for, inter alia,
identifying, reviewing and evaluating suitable investment
or divestment opportunities, assisting the Board in the
execution of investment and divestment decisions and
monitoring the investments of the Group. When a
potential investment opportunity arises, our investment
team will evaluate it thoroughly and critically in order
to reduce investment risks and protect the interests of
shareholders. In making investment decisions, we adopt a
responsible and prudent approach to balance profitability
and risk.

Protection of Data Privacy

We protect the information security of our stakeholders,
including business partners, employees and identified
individuals. The contents of privacy matters are confidential
and access thereto is restricted to the provisions of the
Privacy Ordinance. We established various measures to
ensure effective data privacy. To safeguard our information
assets and prevent data leakage, we require our employees
to handle sensitive or confidential information cautiously.
The usage of data is strictly bound to the purposes in
accordance with relevant contract terms.

Employees are not allowed to disclose, exploit or use
directly or indirectly confidential information regarding
the Group to which they have access as a result of their
employment. Failure to observe this rule may lead to
summary dismissal without compensation by the Group.
The Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486) or
any other applicable laws or regulatory requirements on
data privacy during the Year.
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Intellectual Property Rights

The Group will provide licensed software for use by its
employees in performing their duties. Employees are
strictly forbidden from installing and using illegal software
on the computers owned by the Group.

As the Group is principally engaged in investment, the
Group believes that health and safety, advertising and
labelling matters relating to products and services provided
are irrelevant to our business. Therefore, no disclosure
about policies of these issues is made in this ESG Report.

Anti-Corruption

We believe integrity and honesty are fundamental in our
business. The Group prohibits any form of corruption, such
as bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. We
will not hesitate to take disciplinary actions in case of any
substantiated misconduct.

In 2024, there were no legal cases concluded regarding
corruption, similar to the situation in 2023.

HIE
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Anti-Corruption Training: RESEFI
Anti-Corruption Training 2024 2023 Unit
REFEI —E-ME T —F B
Number of anti-corruption

training sessions 1 1 No.
R & E AR B R
Total number of training hours

related to anti-corruption 8 8 hour
f &5 18 B8 1) 15 51| 48 s 3K N
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Anti-Corruption Training 2024 2023 Unit
EE —E-NE —ET--F B
Percentage of employees with
anti-corruption training Directors 100 100 %
2IRESHEINEEBESE EF
General employees 13 13 %

—REE

In order to promote sound and effective corporate
governance, the Group established the internal “Conflict
of Interest Policy” to set out the Code of Conduct and
procedures during handling potential conflict of interest.
The Group strictly prohibits anyone from offering, soliciting
or accepting bribes or participating in any solicitation,
acceptance, payment or offer of a bribe or kickback.
Any employee doing so commits an offence under the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201).

Employees are required to report to management through
their department manager or the Human Resources
Department of incidents or suspected cases of corruption,
theft, fraud and embezzlement. The internal "“Whistle-
blowing Policy” provides formal communication channels
for employees and any other persons to raise or report
any concerns relating to Malpractices that may have been
committed by the Group or its employees in the capacity
of employees of the Group. All matters raised by the
whistle-blower will be kept strictly confidential. The Group
has established the Audit Committee (“AC") to specifically
attend to any concerns on Malpractice within or relating
to the Group. Management will make an investigation and
report to the police or ICAC if appropriate.
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RE -2 NEARS

To strengthen the culture of integrity and consistently
incorporate anti-corruption in its governance at all business
levels, the Group provides a session of anti-corruption
training with a total of 8 training hours to our Directors
and employee, which included training on the updates of
the anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws and regulations,
as well as case studies of past violations in which emphasis
was placed on how to properly handle potential and
materialized violations. 100% of the Directors and 13% of
the employees attended the anti-corruption training during
the Year.

We strictly abide by relevant laws and regulations including
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201). No legal
cases or material non-compliance with the laws and
regulations relating to corruption were brought against the
Group or its employees during the Year.

Community Investment

The Group strives to be a responsible corporate citizen and
cares about the development of the community where we
operate. We encourage our staff to actively participate in
social welfare activities and volunteering services or make
donations to charitable organization.
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX

#Eal) RBERSG

ERARZA CRE -HERERBE

KPIs Disclosure Requirements Sections
BREN

BE REEX 4

1 Governance Structure Disclosure of the board's oversight of ESG issues; Sustainability

M L\?JFIT%

Reporting Principles
P& 43[R A

Reporting Boundary
i & &

BEEZSURR HELELRFENEE:

Board's ESG management approach and strategy, including the
process used to evaluate, prioritise and manage material ESG-
related issues (including risks to the issuer's businesses)

EZENRE HERERERAHEER SETE BREIR
EREENRE HENEAMBEE (BREETARBNRAR)
BB

How the board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals
and targets with an explanation of how they relate to the issuer's
businesses.

ESSNARERE HERERABERRIES TEE
BBETAZRBREE-

eI

Description of, or an explanation on, the application of the following
Reporting Principles (Materiality, Quantitative, Consistency) in the
preparation of the ESG report

HUTHERN(BEN B —BH)ERE HERELRER
HpREma RN L SRR

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report and
describing the process used to identify which entities or operations
are included in the ESG report. If there is a change in the scope,
the issuer should explain the difference and reason for the change

BMERE HENERRENERSE RELHERLERARHE
MARE HeRERBRENRR -EERBEFMAE ETA
ERETRzELEFRA
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KPIs Disclosure Requirements Sections

BREN

tpd REEX B

Environmental
RE
Aspect AT: Emissions
EEA - HEHY
A1 General Disclosure Policies Emissions
—BREE HR 7387
Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant  Emissions
impact on the issuer; relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, 5t %)
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.
BTHETAREAYENRBZERAD: FEERNAZEREH
BoMKRIMNESREEREEEENNES -
A1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions
HRMBE R NEIE- 7387

A12 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas Emissions
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per BER#)
unit of production volume, per facility).

Ef (8B RepRfEE (HE2) RERBHME (MEE) R (0
BR)RE (WASESEN SERBHE) -

A13 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, Waste Management

intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). BEEVERE
MEXEEEENASE (UEAE) R (WER)ZE (MABEEE
fii - BERMETE) -

Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Waste Management
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per EZE¥EE
facility).

MEAREZEENESE UMAE) R (NER)BE (WNEEEE
fii - BERETE) -
A15 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Emissions
MR UM B B R RAENE L B RARAMN AR 7387
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/-r/-\—\

/D#ﬁr:

KPIs Disclosure Requirements Sections
BREN
BE REEX 4
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are Waste Management
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps BEZEYE 2
taken to achieve them.
HOREEEREZEENN L REEMT U HORERERRAE
HELBEMERRmM AR -
A2 Use of Resource
EHA2 - ERER
A2 General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and  Our Environment
—REE other raw materials. R
BRERER (BEER KREMRE) HE -
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, Our Environment
gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of IRI%
production volume, per facility).
RERASMERR/LHEER (NS Fdh) BFE (UTAT
REGHE)REE (MABESEN §ERMHAE) -
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production Our Environment
volume, per facility). RIE
BRKEREE (MABESREN §ERMEAR)
A23 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to Our Environment
achieve them. R
ATV RERYRAERAEINELARARRN SR -
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is Our Environment
fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to IR1%
achieve them.
HICKEGERKR EA B EMEE - URATUARAKEREERA
EEL B RARRH SR
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if Use of Packaging

applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

HkmPrRAENHNEE (U E) R (WER) BLEEMGE -
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KPIs Disclosure Requirements Sections
BREN
HE REEX £4:

Aspect A3: The Environment
and Natural Resources
EBAI:RERRAER

A3 General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer's significant impacts on the Environment and
—BREE environment and natural resources. Natural Resources

REBTAERERARERENERTENHRE - RERAAER

A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment ~ Environment and

Aspect Ad: Climate Change
EEAM :RIEZ

and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.
BUEBEDURERRRERNEAYERCRNERAHETE
H178 -

Natural Resources
RERKAER

A4 General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related Climate Change
—REE issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the TIEZ1t
issuer.
BAINEAEE R e HETAELEYENERRBEHESEN
HR
A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have Climate Change

impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them.

RREERREHETAELAYENEARBHEASE  REHT
ib o
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KPIs Disclosure Requirements Sections
BREN
BE REEX 4
Social
e
Aspect B1: Employment
EMmBI : EfE
B General Disclosure Policies Employment
—RIE R E1R
Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant Employment
impact on the issuer; relating to compensation and dismissal, [EfZ
recruitment, and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, antidiscrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.
ETHETAREARENERERZRAN FRFHLGE B
REF TR RE TEHE Sl RESUREMGAES
RAER
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or Employment
part-time), age group and geographical region. EfE
BRI EREL (M2BIRE)  FRAFNRSEEDNESLE -
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical Employment
region. EfE

BiR FRERNEENNEERKIL R
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KPIs Disclosure Requirements Sections
BREN
BE REEX 4
Aspect B2:
Health and Safety
EEB2 REEZE
B2 General Disclosure Policies Health and Safety
—RIE HR EEZE
Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant Health and Safety
impact on the issuer REREZE
BTHETAREATENRBZERAD
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the Health and Safety
past three years including the reporting year. EREZE
BE=F (BRERFE)BFRITHMNARRIL X
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
TEBXIERY gEEZR2
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and Health and Safety
how they are implemented and monitored. EEREAZZE
WA RANBEREER 2B AREBRTRER -
Aspect B3: Development
and Training
EEB3 : BRI
B3 General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging Development and
—RIKE duties at work. Description of training activities. Training
BRRAEEBTIERENNBRRENBE -HABIES .  FEKE
B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee Development and
category (e.g. senior management, middle management). Training
BURIREEEN (MEREERE PREER)ANNZIEED ZEKE
e
B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and Development and

employee category.

BHAREERENED SREETKSINTHER-
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KPIs Disclosure Requirements
BREN
e REEX

Sections

B

Aspect B4: Labour standards
BEB4 : 5 TAH|

B4 General Disclosure Policies
— BB E Bk

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

ETHRTABEAYENRRER AN

B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid
child and forced labour.

s AR EAMERARCET REHS T -

B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

R R RERBRRBREABNARBN SR

Aspect B5: Supply chain
management

EEBS: ftEEERE

BS General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
—BREE chain.

EEAEEROREIEGRBEE

B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.
RS HHEREE -

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

MR EBERHERNES RARTABEMNNHERHRE IR
HRRTREEN A
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KPIs Disclosure Requirements Sections
BREN
tpd REEX B
B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social Supply Chain
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and ~ Management
monitored. HEgE R
HOAAEBAHEEESERGARE R SRRNER - U REEEHR
TRERRE:
B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable Supply Chain
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are  Management
implemented and monitored. HEEE R
HOARERERRRESBRRERRRBOEHN A RBABRT
RERAZE.
Aspect B6: Product
Responsibility
EEB6 -EmE
B6 General Disclosure Policies The Group is not a
—RHE 2 service provider

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

ETHRTABEAZENRBEER AN

and not involved
in a business that
sells products.
REB W MR B
B NP REE
EmNER-

The Group is not a
service provider
and not involved
in a business that
sells products.

REEYERBHEE
B NS RIEE
Emi ¥
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KPIs

BREX
BE

Disclosure Requirements

BEEX

Sections

B

B6.1

B6.2

B6.3

B6.4

B6.5
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Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for
safety and health reasons.

CERCEREMEHTRL2BRFEMMARNRNED L

Number of products and service related complaints received and how
they are dealt with.

REBNER LRBORFHEAREETZ

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.

Rt EEERREAREEERNED

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

HrEERTRARERERQWER-

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and

how they are implemented and monitored.

HLEBEEERRERALBEE

AREBRTRER A

The Group is not a
service provider
and not involved
in a business that
sells products.

REEYERBHEE
B S RHE
EmNER-

The Group is not a
service provider
and not involved
in a business that
sells products.

REBEW IR HE
B AERIEE
EmNER-

The Group is not a
service provider
and not involved
in a business that
sells products.

REBYIERBHE
B NS RIEE
EmNES-

The Group is not a
service provider
and not involved
in a business that
sells products.

AEBYIERBHEE
B AERIEE
EmNES-

Product Responsibility
EmEf
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KPIs Disclosure Requirements Sections
BREN
8 HEER 5
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
EMEB7 : RES
B7 General Disclosure Policies Anti-Corruption
—RI%E B REF
Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant Anti-Corruption
impact on the issuer RER
BTHETAREAZENRBZERAD
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought Anti-Corruption
against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and R &)5
the outcomes of the cases.
RBEHANEETASIEEERE T D EEANERFARGNEE
R DR
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, Anti-Corruption
and how they are implemented and monitored. RER
M BEERBRRERF AREBRTRERE.
B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. ~ Anti-Corruption
R REEREIRHENRESE RER
Aspect B8: Community
investment
MBS #RIRE
B8 General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the Community
—REE communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities  Investment
take into consideration the communities’ interests. HERERE
BBRAHERS JKT%@%@F&EH[EEWE REXKEHEER
AL M 2 M BUR
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, Community
labour needs, health, culture, sport). Investment
EIEREE (¥E BESFH FIFR - BE - 8BF). HERE
B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community
EEIEERPAER (MEBELBH) - Investment
HRERE
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elite
= partners

To the Members of
Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on
pages 100 to 175, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

92 ANNUAL REPORT 2024 Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited

BHEBHFEXRELEARLT
(REFEFHSZTMEA L HRLA])
PR

=R
AZEMEEZE100E £ B1758 raElE
EBRFEXENERAR ([EA7))EE
MEBAR (AT S EEE]) 2580
H& BER_ZHF+_A=+—HZ
FEMBRARAR BEZRLFEZERE
BsREEMPER RERRESEESHR LG
BREREREK A NEEMBHRERME (2
REBARNGFTHRER) -

RZBAR A REVBRREBEETES
A g ((EASHMARBEMANES
B mEER ((ERAMKREEANEE
mAaFke EEER T _WF+=
A=+ —BMEGEEMBRRAREEZA
IFFENGAVBRARGARESRE I
EEBEABRAKINERRATE ARE -



Independent Auditor’s Report
ARV 3 TR =S

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the “Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”),
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

and we have fulfilled our

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matter

Expected credit loss allowance for debt investment
measured at amortised cost (“debt investment”) and
other receivables

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has debt investment
and other receivables of approximately HK$18,314,000
and HK$30,899,000 respectively. The other receivables
representing the consideration receivables arising from the
disposal of unlisted equity investments.

ERE%E

ARBME RS RN ARESG S
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BEEXER
BBEXF N BZEERE ([EHERE])
RAMEBERFEZBREEBRZE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter (Continued)

Expected credit loss allowance for debt investment
measured at amortised cost (“debt investment”) and
other receivables (Continued)

The management measures expected credit loss (“ECL")
by taking into account the ageing of debt investment and
other receivables, the repayments of counterparties of
different risk characteristics, current market conditions,
counterparty-specific conditions, and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the debt
investment and other receivables.

We identified ECL allowance for debt investment and
other receivables as a key audit matter because of the
significance of debt investment and other receivables to
the financial statements and determining the level of ECL
allowance requires the exercise of significant management
judgement.

How the matter was addressed in our audit:
Our procedures to assess the ECL allowance for debt
investment and other receivables include:

Evaluated the competence, capabilities and
independence of the Group's external valuer;

o Obtained an understanding of the process in relation
to estimating the ECL allowance for the debt
investment and other receivables;

o Assessed the appropriateness of the key parameters
and assumptions that management uses in its
implementation of the ECL model; and

o Tested the mathematical accuracy of management’s
calculation of ECL allowance.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Y& N7 1% 1AM

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business units
within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review
of the audit work performed for the purpose of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Y& N7 1% 1AM

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguard applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Siu Jimmy with
Practising Certificate number P05898.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Unit 1503, 15/F, Jubilee Centre
18 Fenwick Street

Wanchai, Hong Kong

20 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

= A = N/ PaN N\ /
‘e B M E M2 K SR
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

2024 2023
—ENE —T_=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
77 BETR BETT
Gross proceeds from disposal HEXZEH ZAIERBELHE
of trading securities 2,928 10,405
Loss from sale of listed equity HEEZEBEZRALEYR
investments at fair value ([ERBREAAE
through profit or loss (“FVPL") JIBE|) 2 L TRAKRE Z
B#E (2,821) (23,593)
Revenue Yz 4 1,226 1,443
Other income H A 4 1,903 1,959
Changes in fair value of listed BRBREREAABIERLZ
equity investments at FVPL FHRAKREZ AR EE (11,945) 6,787
Reversal of impairment losses BEEMEEFBERAT
under expected credit loss REEEFE
model, net 7 829 4,948
Operating expenses mERx (6,040) (6,327)
Loss before tax BrEEAIE 1B 6 (16,848) (14,783)
Income tax expense FTERiF X 8 - -
Loss and total comprehensive ZARQAFEHEZFE AL
expense for the year FREERZEMBIAE
attributable to equity holders
of the Company (16,848) (14,783)
HK$ HK$
o A
Loss per share — Basic and diluted &AREE —EA K#E 9 (0.06) (0.05)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e B AR N 3R

As at 31 December 2024
ROFZpFE+=—A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-NmE —E-=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B et BT T BT
Non-current asset FRBEE
Debt investment measured REBHEKATEZ
at amortised cost BEBRE 14 18,314 18,159
Current assets REEE
Equity investments at fair value through FHRBREARN
profit or loss 5|8 2 IR AR A 12 106,597 112,441
Deposits and prepayments B REMR 1,338 242
Due from securities brokers JIE Uy 38 55 48 40 5/ IR 15 4,358 3,000
Other receivables H b B W R IE 16 30,899 35,325
Bank balances and cash RITHEFRE S 17 11,351 1,978
154,543 152,986
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals BN R ETER 18 840 840
Due to securities brokers HEREHFERL 2 A 19 - 1
840 841
Net current assets REEERE 153,703 152,145
Total assets less current liabilities EEHAERABER 172,017 170,304
NET ASSETS EEFE 172,017 170,304
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R B IR IR
As at 31 December 2024
R-ZFEZpF+—H=+—H

2024 2023
—BCWmE —T-=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
ok BETT BETT

Capital and reserves BRAR %
Share capital L& 20 355 281
Reserves i 171,662 170,023
TOTAL EQUITY BmER 172,017 170,304
HK$ HK$
B ks
Net asset value per share BREEFE 22 0.48 0.60

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 20 March 2025.

SHUM Kit Lan Anita
WRR
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FeRTRERK

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

2024 2023
—E_-ME —E-=F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Mt it BET T BEETT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KESEH
Cash used in operations LEBMAES 25 (10,417) (6,898)
Dividends received B B 26 243
Interest received =R RSN 1,203 1,209
Net cash used in operating RETDHFMARS TR
activities (9,188) (5,446)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES T
Proceeds from placement of shares B2 & % {7 Ff 15 8 13,978 -
Proceeds from exercise of 1TE BB IR ME PR 1S SR
share options 4,583 -
Net cash generated from BEEEFIFREFHE
financing activities 18,561 -
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and R4 KBELEEY
cash equivalent #hn, CRd) 9,373 (5,446)
Cash and cash equivalents at FHNRERACEEY
beginning of year 1,978 7,424
Cash and cash equivalents FREGSREASEEY
at end of year represented (ZRRERIT
by bank balances and cash HERRE) 11,351 1,978
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
/\\/ N HX%TH_/\/\ 454 @J 2%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEF-_A=1—HIFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ANREEEEAEMN
Share
Share Share  Contributed options  Accumulated Total
capital premium Surplus reserve losses reserve Total
B A& R EE BABH  BRERE RHER RS &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BT BT BT
At 1 January 2024 RZZB-MF
—A—H 281 1,065,814 186,046 14,314 (1,096,151) 170,023 170,304

Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ F£REER

for the year 2EABREE - - - - (16,848) (16,848) (16,848)
Contributions and distributions RERDE
Issue of share upon exercise of RAERERER

share option BT AD 15 6,601 - (2,033) - 4,568 4,583
Issue of new shares under placing BEREETHRG 59 13,919 - - - 13,919 13,978
Lapse of share options BRI K - - - (2,299) 2,299 - -
Total transactions with owners BREEARGHERE 74 20,520 - (4,332) 2,299 18,487 18,561
At 31 December 2024 R-B-mE

+=-A=+-H 355 1,086,334 186,046 9,982 (1,110,700) 171,662 172,017

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
KAREERE ARG

Share

Share Contributed options  Accumulated Total
capital ~ Share premium Surplus reserve losses reserve Total
A REEE GARH BRERE 2EER fEEAE G
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT

At 1 January 2023 —Z-=F

*ﬂ —H 281 1,065,814 186,046 14,770 (1,081,824) 184,806 185,087

Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ £REER

for the year 2EERAE - - - - (14,783) (14,783) (14,783)
Contributions and distributions RERAE
Lapse of share options BRI R - - - (456) 456 - -
Total transactions with owners HEFEARFEE - - - (456) 456 - -
At 31 December 2023 R-B==%
+=-A=t+-H 281 1,065,814 186,046 14,314 (1,096,151) 170,023 170,304
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

The registered office of the Company is located at
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business of the Company is located at
Room 1006, 10th Floor, 299QRC, 287-299 Queen’s
Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Group are engaged in
the investment in listed and unlisted financial assets.
Details of principal subsidiaries are set out in note
11 to the consolidated financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"), which
collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements also comply
with applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting
policies adopted in the 2023 consolidated financial
statements except for the adoption of the following
amendments to HKFRSs that are relevant to the
Group and effective from the current year.
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Notes to the Conso
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Adoption of Amendments to HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities
HKAS 1 as Current or Non-current

and related amendments
to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with
HKAS 1 Covenants
Amendments to Supplier Finance

HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Arrangements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year.

The amendments add subsequent measurement
requirements for sale and leaseback transactions
that satisfy the requirements of HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers to be accounted for
as a sale. The amendments require a seller-lessee
to determine “lease payments” or “revised lease
payments” such that the seller-lessee would not
recognise a gain or loss that relates to the right of
use retained by the seller-lessee. The amendments
also clarify that applying the requirements does not
prevent the seller-lessee from recognising in profit or
loss any gain or loss relating to subsequent partial or
full termination of a lease.

According to the transitional provisions, the
Group has applied the new accounting policy
retrospectively to the sale and leaseback transactions
entered into by the Group as the seller-lessee after
the initial application of HKFRS 16. The application
of the amendments has no material impact on the
Company'’s financial position and performance.
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Notes to the Conso
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
“2022 Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of right to
defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date for classification of liabilities as
current or noncurrent, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current should be based on
rights that are in existence at the end of the
reporting period. Specifically, the classification
should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the liability
within 12 months.

. clarify that the settlement of a liability can
be a transfer of cash, goods or services, or
the entity’s own equity instruments to the
counterparty. If a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own
equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only
if the entity recognises the option separately
as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
“2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date which are conditional
on the compliance with covenants, the 2022
Amendments specifically clarify that only covenants
that an entity is required to comply with on or
before the end of the reporting period affect
the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability
for at least twelve months after the reporting
date, even if compliance with the covenant is
assessed only after the reporting date. The 2022
Amendments also specify that covenants with
which an entity must comply after the reporting
date (i.e. future covenants) do not affect the
classification of a liability as current or non-current
at the reporting date. However, if the entity’s
right to defer settlement of a liability is subject
to the entity complying with covenants within
twelve months after the reporting period, an entity
discloses information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk of the liabilities
becoming repayable within twelve months after the
reporting period. This would include information
about the covenants, the carrying amount of
related liabilities and facts and circumstances, if any,
that indicate that the entity may have difficulties
complying with the covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the
Group has applied the new accounting policy to the
classification of liability as current or non-current
retrospectively. The application of the amendments
in the current year had no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year.

The amendments add a disclosure objective to
HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows stating that an
entity is required to disclose information about its
supplier finance arrangements that enables users of
financial statements to assess the effects of those
arrangements on the entity’s liabilities and cash
flows.

In addition, HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures was amended to add supplier finance
arrangements as an example within the requirements
to disclose information about an entity’s exposure to
concentration of liquidity risk.

In accordance with the transition provision, the
entity is not required to disclose comparative
information for any reporting periods presented
before the beginning of the annual reporting
period in the first year of application as well as the
information required by HKAS 7:44 (b)(ii) and (b)(iii)
above as at the beginning of the annual reporting
period in which the entity first applies those
amendments.

The application of the amendments in the current
year had no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements is historical
cost except for financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL") which are measured at fair
value as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of
the valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of measurement (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise
the financial statements of the Company and all of
its subsidiaries as at 31 December each year. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting year as that of the Company
using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and
expenses and profits and losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in full. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the elements of
control.

In the Company's statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses. The carrying amount of the
investments is reduced to its recoverable amount
on an individual basis, if it is higher than the
recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments and on a trade date
basis.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing
for the proceeds received.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises
the financial asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and an associated liability for amounts it
may have to pay.

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets are initially recognised at their
fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not
carried at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as
(i) measured at amortised cost; (ii) debt investment
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“Mandatory FVOCI"); (iii) equity
investment measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“Designated FVOCI”); or
(iv) measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the financial
asset's contractual cash flow characteristics. Financial
assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial
recognition unless the Group changes its business
model for managing them, in which case all affected
financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the
first annual reporting period following the change in
the business model (the “reclassification date”).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and measurement (Continued)

1)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost
if it meets both of the following conditions
and is not designated as at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows;
and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective
interest rate method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses arising from
impairment, derecognition or through the
amortisation process are recognised in profit
or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised
cost include debt investment measured at
amortised cost, deposits, due from securities
brokers, other receivables and bank balances
and cash.
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BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

2)

Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets
that are not measured at amortised cost or
FVOCI, including financial assets held for
trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition as at FVPL. They are carried
at fair value, with any resultant gain and loss
recognised in profit or loss, which does not
include any dividend or interest earned on the
financial assets. Dividend or interest income
is presented separately from fair value gain or
loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for
trading if it is:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near term;

(i) part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that are managed together
and for which there is evidence of a
recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking on initial recognition; or

(i) a derivative that is not a financial
guarantee contract or not a designated
and effective hedging instrument.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition
as at FVPL only if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency
that would otherwise arise from measuring assets
or liabilities or recognising the gains or losses on
them on different bases.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses ("ECL") on financial assets that
are measured at amortised cost, to which the
impairment requirements apply in accordance with
HKFRS 9. The Group measures a loss allowance for
a financial asset at an amount equal to the lifetime
ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition. If
the credit risk on a financial asset has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial asset
at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls)
over the expected life of the financial instrument.
A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash
flows that are due to an entity in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value
of the difference between the contractual cash flows
that are due to an entity under the contract and the
cash flows that the entity expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument while 12-month ECL represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events on a financial instrument that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account in the assessment:

o the debtor’s failure to make payments of
principal or interest on the due dates;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’'s external or
internal credit rating (if available);

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

o actual or expected changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have
or may have a significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Assessment of significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if the
financial instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date.

Low credit risk
A financial instrument is determined to have low
credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term; and

(iii)  adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial asset
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired include observable data about the
following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower.

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event.

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(f)  the purchase or origination of a financial asset

at a deep discount that reflects the incurred
credit losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Werite-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the
Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering
the contractual cash flows on a financial asset in its
entirety or a portion thereof. The Group has a policy
of writing off the gross carrying amount based on
historical experience of recoveries of similar assets.
The Group expects no significant recovery from the
amount written off. However, financial assets that
are written off could still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's procedures for recovery
of amounts due, taking into account legal advice if
appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is recognised
in profit or loss. The written off amount recognised
through loss allowance account.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that the
Group may not receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full if the financial instrument that meets
any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group); or

(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only
when the liability is extinguished, that is, when
the obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their
fair value plus, in the case of financial liabilities not
carried at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include other
payables and accrual and due to securities brokers.
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method, unless
the effect of discounting would be insignificant, in
which case they are stated at cost.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include
cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash
and cash equivalents as defined above

Revenue recognition

Dividend income from investments is recognised
when the Group’s rights to receive payment have
been established.

Interest income from financial assets is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease at inception of the contract. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to
short-term leases. Lease payments associated with
these leases are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases office premises that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
eligible employees. Contributions are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The obligations for contributions to defined
contribution retirement scheme are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss as incurred. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independent administered fund.

Retirement benefit costs

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contribution to
the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme
vest immediately.

The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed in the central
pension scheme The Group has no forfeiture of
pension scheme contributions (i.e. contributions
processed by the employer on behalf of the
employee who has exited the scheme prior to
vesting of such contributions). As at 31 December
2024, no forfeited contribution under the pension
scheme of the Group is available for deduction of
contribution payable in coming years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
LSP under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance

For LSP obligations, the estimated amount of future
benefit is determined after deducting the negative
service cost arising from the accrued benefits derived
from the Group’s MPF contributions that have been
rested with employees, which are deemed to be
contributions from the relevant employees.

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled transactions

The Group’s employees, including directors, receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby the employees rendered
services in exchange for shares or rights over shares.
The cost of such transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date. The fair value of
share options granted to employees is recognised as
an employee cost with a corresponding increase in
a reserve within equity. The fair value is determined
using the binomial option pricing model, taking
into account any market conditions and non-vesting
conditions.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the vesting conditions
are to be fulfilled, ending on the date on which
the entitlement of relevant employees to the
award is no longer conditional on the satisfaction
of any non-market vesting conditions (“vesting
date”). During the vesting period, the number of
share options that is expected to vest ultimately is
reviewed. Any adjustment to the cumulative fair
value recognised in prior periods is charged/credited
to profit or loss for the year of review, with a
corresponding adjustment to the reserve within
equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Equity-settled transactions (Continued)

When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to accumulated
losses.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
with parties other than employees are measured at
fair value of the goods or services received, except
where the fair value cannot be reliably estimated,
in which case they are measured at the fair value of
the equity instruments granted. In all cases, the fair
value is measured at the date the Group obtains the
goods or the counterparty renders the services.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sums of the
current and deferred income tax expense.

The charge for current income tax is based on the
results for the year as adjusted for items that are
non-assessable or disallowed. It is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However, any
deferred tax arising from initial recognition of
goodwill; or other asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time
of the transaction affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss is not recognised.

EREERE (&)
LRGBBERZNRRS ()
BEzHEXS (&)

2 IRBER BB B R B0 N E
HI B ER D ARITEERS - R AT B AR
RN EHEARNEBE-

B8 B LASMA 2 A DARE 25 45 55 A
iy RER 2 NRR 5 KIS
MARE 2 AR EE BRIFAAE
AR A EHBER T ARE
BREBETAZ A AAEFE-ERB
AT RAEBRANEERESEYSE
FhHRHRB 2 Bt E-

Bi1R
PIT 15 15t 7 S 45 B B K23 3 P 15 B2 B
X2 A e

BDERFT 18 B0 3 D IR 8 AR [T 4
BB AT A MAE R EEE
U 523 35 25 5D A R B A A B
B2 PR -

EXERIBEDRARELS REEHR
BEZHERENGEEVHHRRE
EERERREHERSE ZHA R
RFEREELBEE-RAM WHEXSF
BEXAMABE AEMEEXERE
FREEZEMELERE (X6 6
EFRIN) O RRZFHLELE SR
) s FE SR 0 B 2 B 1R - Bl T & R
RIEIETR A °

BETEEXEAERAA 2024 £ 127



NN ey

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is recovered or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
differences, tax losses and credits can be utilised.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to
the Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(vi)

The entity and the Group are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity and include:

(@)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(c) dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate
includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint
venture includes subsidiaries of the joint venture.

In addition, transactions with connected parties as
defined under the Listing Rules are disclosed in the
Directors’ Report of this annual report.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Critical accounting estimates and judgement
Estimates and assumptions concerning the future
and judgements are made by the management
in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. They affect the application of the
Group’s accounting policies, reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and
disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going
basis and are based on experience and relevant
factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Where appropriate, revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period of
revision and future periods, in case the revision also
affects future periods.

Expected credit loss for debt investment
measured at amortised cost and other
receivables

The credit losses for debt investment measured
at amortised cost and other receivables are based
on assumptions about the expected loss rates.
The management use judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
calculation, based on the historical payment records,
existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates. Changes in these assumptions
and estimates could materially affect the result of
the assessment and the management may make any
increase or decrease in the loss allowance in future
periods.
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3. FUTURE CHANGES IN HKFRSs
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
financial statements, the HKICPA has issued the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs that
are not yet effective for the current year, which the
Group has not early adopted:

Amendments to Amendments to the
HKFRS 9 and Classification and
HKFRS 7 Measurement of

Financial Instruments3?

Amendments to Sale or Contribution
HKFRS 10 and of Assets between
HKAS 28 an Investor and its

Associate or Joint
Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS ~ Annual Improvements
Accounting Standards to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 113

Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability?
HKAS 21
HKFRS 18 Presentation and
Disclosure in Financial
Statements?*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a
date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2027.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all new and amendments to HKFRSs
is unlikely to have a material impact on the Group’s
financial position and performance as well as
disclosure in foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

4. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 4, Wik & E AU A
The Group is principally engaged in the investment REEFEXBRAIRE LT RIELT
in listed and unlisted financial assets. Revenue ERMEE AFECHERZWZELT

recognised during the year are as follows:

2024 2023
—ENF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Revenue g
Dividend income from listed equity BB iEmE A R BV
investments at FVPL ZLETBRAKE 2
iz B WA 26 243
Interest income from debt BEERE 2 B WA
investment 1,200 1,200
1,226 1,443
Other Income Hau A
Interest income from amount JE W AR 40 FRIE 2
due from broker F B WA 3 9
Interest from other receivables H b e U 30 2 BB 1,900 1,950
1,903 1,959
3,129 3,402
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the purpose of internal reporting, the Group
only has one business segment, namely, investment
in listed and unlisted financial assets, which is also
the Group's primary basis of segment reporting.
Accordingly, the Group is not required to present
the segment information on revenue, contribution
to operating profit, assets and liabilities that are
attributable to single segment.

Geographical information

The geographical location from which the Group
derives revenue is based on the location of the
markets of the respective investments; and the
geographical location of the specified non-current
assets is based on the physical location of the asset.
As all of the Group’s revenue and non-current assets
are principally attributable to and located in Hong
Kong, accordingly, no geographical information is
represented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

6. LOSS BEFORE TAX 6. BRBLRIES 1B
2024 2023
—E-NE —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
This is stated after charging/ LN YA UNE
(crediting):
Staff costs (excluding directors’ BIMAK (EEME
remuneration): BRAM)

Salaries and allowance e RoER 500 523

Discretionary bonuses BB TE 4L - 14

Retirement scheme contributions 3R KT &It 19 19

519 556

Other items HiE B

Auditor’s remuneration ZE RN B &

— audit services — B IR 342 380

— other services —H R 38 -

380 380

Expenses related to short term lease f52EiFHE AR 2 f 192 177

Disclosures pursuant to Rule BB LR R

21.12(1)(c) of the Listing Rules  5£21.12(1)(c) R &
Realised loss from sale HELTRAREZ

of listed equity investments EZRERE (i) 2,821 23,593
Unrealised loss/(gain) on listed FHRAKREZ RER

equity investments BB/ (W) (i) 11,945 (6,787)

Notes: Hiat -

(i) The amounts are calculated based on the () ZESBIHIBRBEHEEMSHIER
sales proceeds less cost of those listed equity EE EMBRARE 2 ARG E -
investments.

(i)~ The amounts represented changes in fair value (ii) ZESHEFTRARERK/EZR
of unrealised investments during the year and REEYHREEFRRECARE
cumulative change in fair value of realised Z Bt #E)-
investments.
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7. REVERSAL OF IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER

idated Financial Statements

BORHAEFEERER N Z2RERBE

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET F4E
2024 2023
—E-NE —TE-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Reversal of impairment losses BT R IERER
recognised on: BERESE:
Debt investment at amortised cost IR KAt E 2
BEBRE (155) (1,059)
Other receivables H th W sk IR (674) (3,889)
(829) (4,948)
8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE FriSBiR X
The income tax expense for the year can be FRFTFMHFE XA &2 HEKE
reconciled to the loss before tax per the consolidated RZGHBIBEHERNT
statement of comprehensive income as follows:
Reconciliation of tax expense HIEM B
2024 2023
—E-_ME —TE-=F
HK$000 HK$'000
BET T BET T
Loss before tax bR 5 B ES 18 (16,848) (14,783)
Income tax at applicable tax rate of 1ZEHA M L16.5%
16.5% (2023: 16.5%) (ZEZ=4#:16.5%)
RSN (2,780) (2,439)
Tax exempt revenue T IE A G W 2 (653) (3,156)
Non-deductible expenses DEIEN: 153 993 2,825
Tax loss not recognised RERZMIBEE 469 1,650
Unrecognised deductible REER AR
temporary difference PR by R 1,971 1,120
Tax expense for the year FATIER - -
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INCOME TAX (Continued)

Reconciliation of tax expense (Continued)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profit for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made in
the consolidated financial statements as the Group
did not derive any assessable profits in Hong Kong
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

As the end of the reporting period, the Group has
unused tax losses of approximately HK$539,074,000
(2023: HK$536,233,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of such losses for both years
due to the unpredictability of future profits streams.
All unrecognised tax losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
deductible temporary difference of approximately
HK$549,056,000 (2023: HK$537,112,000) arising
from the net unrealised loss on listed equity
investments. No deferred tax assets have been
recognised in relation to such deductible temporary
difference as it is not probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised.

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share is based
on the Group’s loss attributable to the equity
holders of the Company of HK$16,848,000 (2023:
HK$14,783,000) and the weighted average number
of approximately 300,711,000 (2023: 281,182,000)
ordinary shares in issue during the year.
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10.

EMOLUMENTS

(a)

idated Financial Statements
wN 3 /\j ﬁ,%i&%% |§ﬁ~ EE

LOSS PER SHARE (Continued) 9. BREE(E)
As exercise of share options of the Company would HE-Z_NGER-ZZT-_=-F+=H
result in a decrease in loss per share, diluted loss per =T —HIEFE BRITEARAE
share is the same as basic loss per share in the year RESEREREERLD  WERE
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. SEEEEGREARNEERR -
DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S 10. EERSAEBEAEMS
Directors’ emoluments (@) E=EM=2
The aggregate amount of emoluments RRAEESED Wk Wz B
received or receivable by the Company's TREBHOT
directors were as follows:
2024
—Bo@E
Retirement  Share-based
Directors’  Salaries and scheme payment  Discretionary
fees  allowances contributions expenses bonus Total
BfRitE  URABREE
EZHe HeREM #E®  ZAFEX BERA &
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETR BETR BETR BETR BETR
Executive director HiEE
Shum Kit Lan Anita e | - 840 18 - - 858
Non-executive director FHTES
Ye Ying S5 - - - - - -
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTEES
directors
Chung Fai Chun ERY 120 - - - - 120
Hung Cho Sing HEE 120 - - - - 120
Yu Tat Chi Michael REX 120 - - - - 120
360 840 18 - - 1,218
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(a)

idated Financial Statements

10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 10. ESREREBEAEME (£)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Directors’ emoluments (Continued) () E=EM< (£
2023
“E-=F
Retirement Share-based
Directors' Salaries and scheme payment  Discretionary
fees allowances  contributions expenses bonus Total
RIKGHE MR ARE
2ok FeREM #x PASE 53 BB At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETTL BETTL RETTL BETT BB BB
Executive director HiTES
Shum Kit Lan Anita A - 840 18 - - 858
Non-executive directors FHTEE
Ye Ying 35 - - - - - -
Hu Xiaoting il
(resigned on 20 November 2023) (R=ZF==%
T-AZ+8EA) - - - - - -
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTEES
directors
Chung Fai Chun ERY 120 - - - - 120
Hung Cho Sing HEE 120 - - - - 120
Yu Tat Chi Michael RED 120 - - - - 120
360 840 18 - - 1,218

All executive directors and independent
non-executive directors of the Company are
the key management personnel, also related
parties, of the Company. During the year
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no other
transactions with related parties have taken
place.

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
paid or payable to the executive director are
generally emoluments paid or payable in
respect of the persons’ services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

RARFTBRITES RBILIE
WITESHATBEEAS
MABRAGBBS BE2_F
“THERZE-_=F+=A
=+ —ALFE I EEEE
FETEMRZ S

ENSENTRITES 2 F T
R REYN S —RAIEE
REBBEARERENE AR
ZEHEEMEARS M
SEM 2T
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
Directors’ emoluments paid to the non-
executive and independent non-executive
directors are for their services as directors of
the Company.

There were no arrangements under which
a director waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments for both years. In addition, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any
of the directors as an inducement to join, or
upon joining the Group or as a compensation
for loss of office for both years.

Individuals with highest emoluments

The five individuals with highest emoluments
of the Group, four (2023 four) are directors
whose emoluments are disclosed in note 10(a)
to the consolidated financial statements. The
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of
the other one (2023: one) individual(s) is as
follows:

idated Financial Statements
IS s 2% Y 5

10. EENREREEAEME (£)

(a)

(b)

EEHS ()

S T IEHITEE RIBI I
FEEZEEME DRGSR
AXATEEMRE T RE X
fifo

RMEFE EFHEREE
] 22 BEPUER 3K [F) B0 I 32 <R ER A
ot RMEFE AEHE
BERTMNESESINMESIER
IMAREE - AR KB E
ZRENERBERAE-

BEHMAL
rEEREZRFMA LTS
Wi (ZFE=—=F W5 RE
F-HEMNERE B REM
10 EE-HHB—% (=F
TEF—E) AN H G
PUNNE

2024 2023

—ENF —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Salaries and allowances e KoERL 211 182
Discretionary bonus BB FEAL - 14
Retirement scheme contributions 3R Kk 5T 2 £ 3 1 10
222 206
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 10. ESREREBEAEME (£)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Individuals with highest emoluments (b) EBEEHFMAL(ZE)
(Continued)
The emoluments were within the following REZFHMNFLATEHE:
band:

Number of employee

EEAH
2024 2023
—EB-NE —E-=
Nil to HK$1,000,000 BT ITEEY

1,000,0007T 1 1

HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 %&#1,000,001 T2
75 #1,500,0007T - -
1 1

(c) Share options granted to the directors of (0 BFEARNESZERE

the Company
Under the existing share option scheme
approved by the shareholders of the Company

BREARFRRN -T—=F
POA =+ At 2 3R B IEAE

on 30 April 2013 (the “2013 Option
Scheme”), the Board may grant options to
those participants who, in its sole discretion,
have contributed to or will contribute to the
Group. In 2024 and 2023, no share options
were granted to the directors of the Company.
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11. SUBSIDIARIES 11. KMEAR
The following is a list of the details of the THRR_E_MER_T_=%F
subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the TZA=T—BARAREE KEER
Company at 31 December 2024 and 2023: B2 HBARFHE:

Principal place

of business
and place of Particulars of issued Proportion of ownership interest and
Name of subsidiary incorporation share capital voting power held by the Company Principal activities
FTEEEBER KARAAEREERER
WEARER AL 3t B ERTRARE REEZLA TEER
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
EE & H#E %
2024 2024 2023 2023
ZERIQME ZBC-@E CTCZF CRCO=F
Excellent Top (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share with no 100% - 100% - Dormant
par value
KE (BB)BERATF BE 1R EEE 100% - 100% - EBEEx
ZERR
Gufalore Investments Limited The British Virgin 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
Islands each
Gufalore Investments Limited KBRS REREEIET 100% - 100% - REBER
LAk
Ninotre Investment Limited The British Virgin 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
Islands each
Ninotre Investment Limited EBRIHE 1REREBIET 100% - 100% - BEER
ZERK
Pacific Kingdom International ~ The British Virgin 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
Limited Islands each
Pacific Kingdom International KBRS REREEIET 100% - 100% - REBRR
Limited ZERR
Whiterock Holdings Limited The British Virgin 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
Islands each
Whiterock Holdings Limited EBRIEE RERABIZT 100% - 100% - BEER
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12.

F_WEFES A=+ —HIFE

EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

EREBE/BAAEIRZRARE

2024 2023
—E-WF —T=F
HK$000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Current nE
Listed equity investments BBz ETRAKRE
in Hong Kong 106,597 112,441
Listed equity investments represent the Group's FRAKRERAEERNFHEER

investments in listed equity securities that are held
for trading, and therefore designated by the Group
as at fair value through profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2024, the net fair value
loss in respect of the Group’s Hong Kong listed
investments recognised in profit or loss amounted
to approximately HK$11,945,000 (2023: net gain
of approximately HK$6,787,000), and a net loss
of approximately HK$2,821,000 (2023: net loss
of approximately HK$23,593,000) was recognised
in profit or loss upon disposal of the listed equity
investments for the year.

EHRARE S 2E - B EE|$'E
BisE /B BRREAAEIK

RZEZmME+=ZA=+—8"
REBREZBRRZ2EALME
BZ2RARhBEEBEBIFENABE
11,945,000 (Z T =4 : g 25
EE A B M6,787,0000T) 0 A
FALELTRAKEEZLRIEBER
EREBBFHABE2,821,000
T(ZEZ=ZF BB FBOBE
23,593,0007T) °

m
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—F_FEF-_A=1—HIFE

13. INVESTMENTS PORTFOLIO 13. BREHE
Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Rule BIEEHRBIE21 1262 BT A&
21.12 of the Listing Rules, the Group discloses its E R E 1+ KIRE RS 4 R
ten largest investments and all individual investments BEEBBNEEBEEES% ZFTEE
with value exceeding 5% of the Group's gross AIRE BREFRERRGMT

assets at the end of the reporting period with brief
description of the investee companies as follows:

Top ten investments TRRE
2024 —E-ME
Percentage
of carrying
amount of
Dividend/  investment to
Carrying  Accumulated Coupon  the Company's
amount unrealised received/  total assets as
Effective asat holding gain/ receivable  at the end of
Number of  shareholding Acquisition 31 December (loss) arising on during  the reporting  Classification
Name of investee company shares held interest cost 2024 revaluation the year period of financial assets
EfRELL REEH
RZB-RE EHES 3] RREBEE
+=Azt-H B/ EREH/ BRATLEE
FREDAZE RERAHE EBRE WREA 2EAE (BR) EURE/E2 ZEAL SRMEELR
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Hiit BETT BBTT BETT BETT
WLS Holdings Ltd. (i) 713,720,000 4.97% 49,038 24,980 (24,058) - 14.5%  Current equity instruments FVPL
ERERERLR FRBERALEIRZRBDRATIA
AMCO United Holding Ltd. i) NATEA N/AZE 20,000 17,390 (2,610) 1,200 10.1%  Debt investment at amortised cost
EZERBRAR REHKAT B 2 ERIRE
China Jicheng Holdings Ltd. (ix) 14,780,000 3.58% 1877 15,667 7,790 - 9.1%  Current equity instruments FVPL
PEERERERAR BRRERAAENEZRBRATA
China Investment and Finance ) 8,490,000 2.06% 5,500 11,292 5792 - 6.5%  Current equity instruments FVPL
Group Ltd.
PERRAREERAT FRBERALEIRZRBDRATIA
SEEC Media Group Ltd. (i) 36,177,000 491% 72,101 7127 (64,974) - 4.1%  Current equity instruments FVPL
HMEREEERAR FERBREEALEIRZRRATA
Milan Station Holdings Ltd. (iv) 36,062,500 341% 13,076 6,708 (6,368) - 39%  Current equity instruments FVPL
AWHERARAR BRRERAAENEZRBRATA
Asia Grocery Distribution Ltd. (i) 49,430,000 4.25% 6,938 6,179 (759) - 3.6%  Current equity instruments FVPL
SHEREEERERAR BERBREEAAEIRZRRATA
Hao Wen Holdings Ltd. (x)) 6,466,000 1.82% 10,527 4,397 (6,130) - 2.5%  Current equity instruments FVPL
EXERERLE FRBERALEIRZRBRATIA
Legendary Education Group Ltd (i) 2,625,645 0.59% 49,884 4122 (45,762) - 2.4%  Current equity instruments FVPL
BRABEEARAR BERBREEAAEIRZRRATA
AMCO United Holding Ltd. (vii) 43,572,000 4.50% 36,498 5228 (31,270) - 41%  Current equity instruments FVPL
ERERARAR BRRERAAENEZRBRATA
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13.

INVESTMENTS PORTFOLIO (Continued) 13. REMAS (&
. . s =
Top ten investments (Continued) TRRE (&
Percentage
of carrying
amount of
Dividend/  investment to
Carrying Accumulated Coupon  the Company's
amount unrealised received/  total assets as
Effective asat  holding gain/ receivable  at the end of
Number of shareholding Acquisition 31 December ~ (loss) arising on during the reporting  Classification
Name of investee company shares held interest cost 2023 revaluation the year period  of financial assets
EfEELY REEH
BiARER ARERAE
BRME/ FAEK/ BARRBEE
FREANRER liigstiva-tG! EhRRE WERRA (B8) EURS/Z8 ZEAN  SREENR
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
it BB BETTL BETTL BB
WLS Holdings Ltd. (i) 693,720,000 4.83% 48,513 25,668 (22,846) - 153%  Current equity instruments FVPL
EEERERAA FERBREEAAEIRZRRATA
China Jicheng Holdings Ltd. (ix) 14,780,000 3.58% 1877 19,066 11,189 - 11.3%  Current equity instruments FVPL
PEERERERLA BRRERAAENEZRBRATLA
AMCO United Holding Limited (i) NA TER N/A R 20,000 17,358 (2,642) 1,200 10.2%  Debt investment at amortised cost
ERERERLAA REHEKAT B 2 BERIRE
SEEC Media Group Ltd. (i) 36,177,000 491% 72,101 14,471 (57,630) - 86%  Current equity instruments FVPL
AREREEERAR FRBERALEIRZRBRATIA
Milan Station Holdings Ltd (i) 33,962,500 3.86% 12,736 6,725 (6,011) - 4.0%  Current equity instruments FVPL
RWUBRERARA FERBREEAAEIRZRPRATA
AMCO United Holding Limited (vii) 43,572,000 45% 36,498 6,318 (30,180) - 3.8%  Current equity instruments FVPL
ERERARAR BRRERAAENEZRBRATLA
Asia Grocery Distribution Ltd. (vii) 49,430,000 4.25% 6,938 5141 (1,797) - 31%  Current equity instruments FVPL
SHEREEERERAR FERBREEAAEIRZRPRATA
Tai Kam Holdings Limited (i) 8,860,000 3.6% 3,274 4,386 1,112 - 2.6%  Current equity instruments FVPL
FRERERAR BRRERAAENEZRBRATLA
Legendary Education Group Ltd () 2,625,645 0.63% 49,884 3,860 (46,024) - 2.3%  Current equity instruments FVPL
BRASKEARAR FERBREEAAEIRZRDRATA
KPM Holding Ltd. U 11,351,200 4.79% 53,763 3,065 (50,699) - 1.8%  Current equity instruments FVPL
HRERARAR BRRERAAENEZRBRATLA
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13.

INVESTMENTS PORTFOLIO (Continued)
Top ten investments (Continued)

Notes.

(i)

(ii)

Tai Kam Holdings Limited (“Tai Kam”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and the
shares of which are listed on Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 8321). Tai Kam
is principally engaged in site formation works and
renovation works. For the year ended 30 April
2023, the audited consolidated loss attributable to
owners of Tai Kam was HK$31,749,000 with basic
and diluted loss per share of HK$13.03 cents. As
at 31 October 2023, its unaudited consolidated
net assets attributable to the owners was
HK$71,875,000.

WLS Holdings Limited (“WLS"”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
and continued in Bermuda with limited liability and
its shares are listed on Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (Stock code: 8021). WLS is principally
engaged in the scaffolding and fitting out services,
management contracting services and other services
for construction and buildings work, money lending
business, securities brokerage and margin financing
and securities investment business. For the year
ended 30 April 2024, the audited consolidated loss
attributable to owners of WLS was HK$11,147,000
with basic and diluted loss per share of HK$0.078
cents. As at 31 October 2024, its unaudited
consolidated net assets attributable to the owners
was HK$415,443,000.
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RERE ()
TRRE (&)
Wi

0) TIREBRARAR ([RE])RH
EHEFMKI ERHRES
BEZXSMBERAR LM (KH
RK57:8321) FMEBR BB
FEIRKREEIR-BHE_F
TZEWMABZ=ZFTHIEFE B
HEANEBLEEZGEAEERS
#531,749,0007T - AR H A K #5E
B A3 - KT ==
F+A=+—HB HEBARMK
AEEREACEEFEABE
71,875,0007T ©

(ii) SERIZERERAR (DERZER])
A—ERRASESTMAL &
HREBERAFMRERETFEY
BERAB-EBOREBHER
SEAERAR LT (BRH R
8021) ERIER T BN EiRMHE
ENEETEMERERGES
fR7% - BB AR REMRE 2
X% BEER BHFELEAR
BMEUNBEASREEB -HE-Z
ZWFRAB=FTRHIEFE ERE
TIREE AEIEEEZEEBIE
BEE11,147,00000 BREARR
BEEEABEOI8L-R =&
“FE+B=1+—H HEE AME
HAREERZREEEFEABE
415,443,0007T °
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13. INVESTMENTS PORTFOLIO (Continued)

Top ten investments (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

SEEC Media Group Limited (“SEEC") was
incorporated in Cayman lIslands and the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 205). SEEC is principally
engaged in the provision of advertising agency
services and distribution of books and magazines in
the PRC and the securities broking business, money
lending business and provision of e-commerce
platform services and sales of related goods in
Hong Kong. For the year ended 31 December 2023,
the audited consolidated loss attributable to owners
of SEEC was HK$23,279,000 with basic and diluted
loss per share of HK$0.032. As at 30 June 2024, its
unaudited consolidated net assets attributable to
the owners was HK$167,355,000.

Milan Station Holdings (“Milan Station”) was
incorporated in Cayman lIslands and the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1150). Milan Station
principally engaged in the retailing of handbags.
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023,
the audited consolidated loss attributable to owners
of Milan Station was HK$27,884,000 with basic
and diluted loss per share of HK$3.17 cents. As at
30 June 2024, its unaudited consolidated net assets
attributable to the owners was HK$63,613,000.

KPM Holdings Limited (“KPM") was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands and the shares of which are
listed on Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(stock code: 8027). principally engaged in the
design, fabrication, installation and maintenance
of signage and related products and provision of
fitting-out and renovation services for commercial
premises and residential developments. For the
financial year ended 31 December 2022, the
audited consolidated loss attributable to owners of
KPM was Singapore Dollars (“S$”) 1,621,897 with
basic and diluted loss per share of $$0.695 cents.
As at 30 June 2023, its unaudited consolidated
net assets attributable to the owners was
$$13,840,037.

idated Financial Statements
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REMES (&)
TRRE (&)
ftet - (&)

(i)  BAEEEEBRER AR ([HHAE
BORHSESEMAY ER
DB T ER BT (B A5
205) B EE T ENEETH
REEERERBERIBEEEK
HRER UREREREESE
WER REEBRREEFEHE
FTERBUALRBEEEEER -BE
R =F+ZA=F+—HL#F
- B e B S AFEIE CE|AAR
A E 18 B8 1523,279,0007T  FA%
ERN#EEIE AE0.0327T°
AT -_NENA=+TH EBEA
ANEEREEREAEEFESD
75 #167,355,0007T ©

(v)  CREUIZERRBMR AR (KEE])
RESHEEFMKL EiRH
REF R AT ER L (B R 5% :
1150) < KL FBREFRTE -
Bz -_=%+-A=+—H
I BRFEE KB EE ARG
KEIZITRE B8R 75 127,884,000
T BBREARBEEBEBASE
37l R =T -_WmFERA=ZT
B EHEABLREEZGEE
2 FE A5 163,613,0007T °

v) HEZERER AR ([HE])RH
SRS MMAL - ERMDNE AR
AERGMBRATEM (RHAR
§%:8027)  FER ERABE-
TRNEEZERBBERAR
MEEDMEREEMEBIREEE
EBFRE - B2 S -_—_F+=
A=Z+—BLtVBREE S8BH%EAE
NEIEEEIZEREE1881,621,897
oo ([Fmgxl) SFRE
AN K 5 5 18 /50,6955 1l o
R-ZZE-_=ZF A=+H E#%E
ANEMAREEZGAEEEFES
13,840,037 JN3 T °

BEmTELEAERAT 2024 £ 147



Notes to the Conso

=IAN
Aref

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

13. INVESTMENTS PORTFOLIO (Continued)

Top ten investments (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Legendary Education Group Limited (formerly
known as “L & A International Holdings”)
("Legendary”) was incorporated in Cayman
Islands and the shares of which are listed on
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock
code: 8195). Legendary principally engaged in
the manufacturing, sales and retailing of garment
products. For the financial year ended 31 March
2024, the audited consolidated profit attributable
to owners of Legendary was HK$45,598,000 with
basic and diluted earnings per share of HK$11.18
cents and HK$10.80 cents, respectively. As at
30 September 2024, its unaudited consolidated
net assets attributable to the owners was
HK$391,423,000.

AMCO United Holding Limited ("AMCO") was
incorporated in Bermuda and the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 630). AMCO is principally engaged
in medical devices business, plastic moulding
business, building contract works business, money
lending business and securities investment. For
the year ended 31 December 2023, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to owners of AMCO
was HK$2,753,000 with basic and diluted loss per
share of HK$0.3 cents. As at 30 June 2024, its
unaudited consolidated net assets attributable to
the owners was HK$35,932,000.
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(vi)

(vii)

(%)

EEHREEBARAR (FIFE L&
A International Holdings |) (/&
A RASES M ERD
REBBAERIMBRAR LT
(B35 :8195) c EHR T BHE
fREEREE -HERTE-HE
—E-NF=ZA=+—HIL¥IK
FE FEEHEEABLKEZES
S | B 78 #£45,598,0007T - B AX &
KRB ERF DB AEEE.181U
K& #10.80(l - R =T ZHF 1
A=1+H HEB ABLEREEZ
tRA B EFEAB391,423,000
5o

ERERERAR([ER])KRE
FoEAMAAL - BB R AT E
R ET (BRHARIR:630) - HEFE
ENEEERBEY BBREALE
HOEFEARRTIRER MEED
RESRE - BE_T_=F+=
A=+—RILFE EREFARE
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T SRR EA NS E B A B 0.3
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13.

INVESTMENTS PORTFOLIO (Continued)

Top ten investments (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(viii)

Asia Grocery Distribution Limited (“Asia Grocery”)
incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability
and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code: 8413). It is
principally engaged in the provision of food and
beverage grocery distribution. For the financial year
ended 31 March 2024, the audited consolidated
profit attributable to equity holders of Asia
Grocery was HK$1,864,000 with basis and diluted
earnings per share both of HK$0.16 cents. As at
30 September 2024, its unaudited consolidated
net assets attributable to the equity holder was
HK$98,774,000.

China lJicheng Holdings Ltd. (“China Jicheng”)
was incorporated in Cayman Islands and the shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1027). China lJicheng is principally
engaged in manufacturing and sale of umbrellas
and the relevant products. For the year ended
31 December 2023, the audited consolidated
loss attributable to owners of China Jicheng was
RMB92,751,000 with basic and diluted loss per
share of RMB22.48 cents. As at 30 June 2024, its
unaudited consolidated net assets attributable to
the owners was RMB228,261,000.

13.
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REMES (&)
TRRE (&)
ftet - (&)

(i) TMEEREEEEZERBERAR ([
NEBRDRNHASHSEMKLA
ERAFR - EBRMDREBH AR
SHBRAREM(BHARR:
8413) EF EHNFRER MRK
BEEDHE - BE T _ME=A
“t+—BUERREE DMNEBE
HRH A ABGREZREEREMNA
75 #1,864,0007T ' TR E A K B
SBRAFABEKI6l-R-_F =
FLA=+H EEZIHFEAE
HREERREEEFBERBE
98,774,0007T ©

(ix) HEEKZRERAR ([HEE
RIDAASESFMAL EiR
MR BT ER BT (RO AR5
1027) cHFBIENEENERER
HEMEREBER - BE-ZT
—ZF+—A=+—HIEFE F
Bl ER ABIEEERREE
18 & AR #92,751,0007T * &% &
AR#EBEEEAARK22485 -
RZZE-_WEXA=1+H E#%EF
ANEEAREEZGEEETER
AR#£228,261,0007T °
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13. INVESTMENTS PORTFOLIO (Continued)

Top ten investments (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(x)

China Investment and Finance Group Limited
(“China Investment”) incorporated in Cayman
Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(Stock code: 1226). It is principally engaged in
the investment holding and trading of securities.
For the financial year ended 31 March 2024, the
audited consolidated loss attributable to equity
holders of China Investment was HK$37,769,000
with basis and diluted loss per share both of
HK$9.15 cents. As at 30 September 2024, its
unaudited consolidated net assets attributable to
the equity holder was HK$151,896,000.

Hao Wen Holdings Limited (“Hao Wen")
incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited
liability and its shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code:
8019). It is principally engaged in the money
lending, processing and trading of electronic parts,
provision of beauty treatment services and sales
of burial plots and related services and cemetery
maintenance services. For the financial year ended
31 December 2023, the audited consolidated loss
attributable to equity holders of China Investment
was RMB2,356,000 with basis and diluted loss per
share both of RMB2.63 cents. As at 30 June 2024,
its unaudited consolidated net assets attributable to
the equity holder was RMB287,140,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

14. DEBT INVESTMENT MEASURED AT AMORTISED 14. REBENLTEZEBERE
COST
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Unlisted debt investment (Note) ELETEBKRE (AT) 20,000 20,000
Interest receivable JiE U T B, 924 924
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEBERE (2,610) (2,765)
18,314 18,159
Analysed as: DT
Non-current JERED 18,314 18,159
Note: Bzt
The unlisted debt investment represented unlisted bonds FETEBREBEEBLTAAESR
with principal amount of HK$20,000,000 issued by REBEE_ZE-_NEFR_F_=F+=
AMCO, which is listed in Hong Kong, during the year A=+ —BUEFEZHTZ2ASAEE
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. It is unsecured, 20,000,0007c 2 3E FH{E S AEEE
carries interest at 6% per annum and matured in 7 years BF N 6% 5T B A7 1% 2 HY (BN84(E
(i.e. 84 months). The principal activities of AMCO was A) - BR 2 E B HEBEEH M FE13vii)

stated in note 13(vii).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

14. DEBT INVESTMENT MEASURED AT AMORTISED 14. REBERKTEZERRE (&)
COST (Continued)
The movements in the allowance for credit losses of BREHENAGFTECEEREZEE
debt investment measured at amortised cost are as EEREZEEHNOT
follows:
2024 2023
—E-mE —E =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
At the beginning of the year R EF A 2,765 3,824
Reversal of impairment losses, net & [B] 5 (B &5 18 /% %8 (155) (1,059)
At the end of the year RER 2,610 2,765
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 27. BB BRI EE27 -
15. DUE FROM SECURITIES BROKERS 15. EWRFEENRE
Amounts due from securities brokers represent EWBHLLFIBIEREE LTHIRE
deposits placed with securities brokers for the FRRBF L L 21RE BRERE
trading of listed investments which are repayable on B RILHNFE0.01% 518

demand and interest-bearing at 0.01%.
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16. OTHER RECEIVABLES Hib W FRIE

2024 2023
—E-WE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Other receivables H b & Y 28 36,890 41,990

Loss allowance for ECL TEHEEEEZ
EiEEE (5,991) (6,665)
30,899 35,325

The movements in the loss allowance for ECL of

other receivables are as follows:

H i EURIR 2 FEEME S B 2 B8

BEZEHIMT

2024 2023

—E-NmE —ET-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

At the beginning of the year NG| 6,665 10,554
Reversal of impairment losses, net  # [0l J8 {& &5 18 /% %8 (674) (3,889)
At the end of the year RER 5,991 6,665

Other receivables represent the consideration HEWFIBEEE S -_NF R
receivables arising from the disposal of unlisted T_=F+ZA=+—HILFELE
equity investments for both years ended 31 ELETIRAREEE 7 BYHRE-
December 2024 and 2023.

HE-_Z-_WWF+-_A=+—H1
FE - H b fE W R IE % #55,100,000
TTUNEBLETROEE - ZETHM
FEUFRIE 2 F BUIR AT F10.22% =
27.27% + Wt AEALYA ©

H b R FR IR 2 R T 5 1R 3R M
27 °

Other receivables amounting HK$5,100,000 were
settled by shares listed in Hong Kong during the
year ended 31 December 2024. The interest income
from certain other receivables, ranged from 10.22%
to 27.27% is included in other income.

Details of impairment assessment of other
receivables are set out in note 27.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

17. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 17.

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances
are set out in note 27.

ROTEFERRE
RITIRSBREBEE BRITERARIRF
B R EREUH 2.

RITHET < BUER A F BENM T
27 °

18. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 18. EHtENRKRESEHR
2024 2023
—E-NE —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T
Other payables H & 1~ 5K 45 45
Accruals st E A 795 795
840 840

Accruals mainly included accrued operating expense
of approximately HK$101,000 (2023: HK$101,000)
and accrued audit fee of HK$380,000 (2023:
HK$380,000).

19. DUE TO SECURITIES BROKERS 19.

Amounts due to securities brokers represent margin
loans arising from the trading of listed investments
which are repayable on demand. No ageing analysis
is disclosed in respect of due to securities brokers.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, an
ageing analysis does not give additional value in
view of the Group’s business nature.
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20. SHARE CAPITAL 20. MR
Number of
Ordinary
Shares of Nominal
HK$0.001 Value
BREE
7 #£0.0017T
2EBR#EAR HE
‘000 HK$°000
T BET T
Authorised: ERE
At 1 January 2022, R-—E-_—_F—H—A8-
31 December 2022, —E-_F+-_/A=+—H"
1 January 2023 and —EZ=F—A—HK
31 December 2023 —E-=%+=-A=+—H 2,000,000 2,000
At 1 January 2023, R-_EBE-_=%—HF—H-
31 December 2023 and —E=F+=-RA=+—H
1 January 2024 EZ_ZE-pUHFE—H—H 281,182 281
Exercise of share options 17 fsP B A 14,500 15
Share capital issued under RIRALE BITRA
placing (note 1) (Bratr) 59,136 59
At 31 December 2024 RZZE_MFE+-_A=+—H 354,818 355
Note: Hrat

1. On 30 October 2024, the Company completed a
share placing for 59,136,000 shares at a placing
price of HK$0.24 per share to independent
investors. Details of the placement are set out in
the Company's announcement dated 7 October
2024 and 30 October 2024.

1. RZFEZMFE+A=+H AR
AIEKIZEEE SR E0.24T
M %8 37 % & % B 559,136,000%
B -EEZFBHNAARA
PE-ZE-_NUF+ALtEHE=Z
ZHWME+A=+THZ RS-

BETELEAERAA 2024 £ 155
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21.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The existing share option scheme of the Company
was approved and adopted by shareholders’
resolution at the annual general meeting held
on 30 April 2013 (the “"Option Scheme”),
unless otherwise cancelled or amended subject
to resolution passed at general meeting of the
Company the Option Scheme will remain in force for
ten years from 30 April 2013. The Option Scheme
was expired during the year ended 31 December
2023. No new share option scheme was approved
and adopted by the Company up to the date of this
report.

The purpose of the Option Scheme is to reward the
participants who have contributed or will contribute
to the Group and to encourage the participants to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company
and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole. Under the Option Scheme,
the Board of the Company may grant options to
those participants who, in its sole discretion, have
contributed to or will contribute to the Group.

Eligible participants (the “Participants”) of
the Option Scheme include any directors of
the Company (including executive directors,
independent
non-executive directors of the Company) and
employees of the Group, any directors or employees
of a company or entity in which the Group has
invested in and any advisors (professional or
otherwise), consultants, distributors, contractors,
suppliers, agents, customers, business partners, joint
venture business partners, promoters, any directors

non-executive directors and

or employees of any service providers of any
members of the Group.
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21.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Without prior separate approval from the Company’s
shareholders, (i) the total number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Company must not
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company as at
the date of the shareholders’ approval of the option
limit; and (ii) the maximum number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted to each Participant under the Option
Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not (when
aggregated with any shares of the Company subject
to options granted during such period under any
other share option scheme(s) of the Company)
exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue
for any time being.

Any grant of options to any directors, chief
executive or substantive shareholders (as such terms
as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company, or
any of their respective associates under the Option
Scheme or any other share option scheme of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries shall be subject
to the prior approval of the independent non-
executive directors or shareholders of the Company
as the case may be. Without prior separate approval
from the Company’s shareholders, the maximum
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect
of which options granted and may be granted to
a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant
shall not (i) exceed 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue on the date of such grant; and (ii)
have an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on
the date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million.

21.
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21.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Under the Option Scheme, the options granted
may be accepted by the participants concerned
for a period of twenty-eight days from the date of
such offer. An option shall be regarded as having
been accepted when the Company receives from
the Participant the duplicate of the offer letter duly
signed by the Participant together with a remittance
in favour of the Company of HK$1 as consideration
for the grant of option. Options may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Option Scheme at
any time not exceeding a period of ten years from
the date on which the share option is granted. The
subscription price for the shares on the exercise
of an option under the Option Scheme shall be
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion
but in any event shall not be less than the highest
of: (i) the closing price of the Company’s share as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date of grant which must be
a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the
Company’s share as stated in the daily quotation
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company's
share.
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21. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 21. BRESTE (EF)
Details of share options granted REBREFE

Closing

price of the

Company's

shares

Closing price of ~ immediately

the Company's before the

Number of shares on date of

outstanding Options Vesting Exercise  Exercisable the date of Options

Date of grant as at 31 December date price period  Options granted granted

KrRRRG

KRRRAR REERH

R+=A=1+-8 BUBRERS BRERSAH

BHAH HRTERRESR BEAH T\ TEHE 2T E 2T E
2024 2023
—E-mE -T-=E

Options granted to a Director RZEZ-§RA+-H - 17,250,000" 11 May 2021 HK$0.316 3 years HK$0.295 HK$0.315
and employees of the Company (X HEE% ) AART —ZEZ-F  BE036T =F Bm0295T  A¥0315T
on 11 May 2021 (after trading —2ESRESR LERE AA+—H
hours)

Options granted to employees ~ RZFZ—F A=+ /\A - 5,000,000 28 June 2021 HK$0.305 3 years HK$0.305 HK$0.305
of the Company on 28 June (ROBRE)MARA ZEZ-F  B%0305T =F 50305 03057
2021 (after trading hours) EERLERE ~NAZTAR

Options granted to employees ~ WZF-—F#RA+=H 19,250,000 22,000,000 12 May 2022 HK$0.800 3 years HK$0.72 HK$0.72
of the Company on 12 May (ROBRE)MEARA ZZZZF BE0800T =F BB BB
2022 (after trading hours) EERILERE RAt+=H

Options granted to employees ~ RZFZZF A=Z+/\A 5500,000 5,500,000 28 June 2022 HK$0.780 3 years HK$0.72 HK$0.72
of the Company on 28 June (ROKBRE)MARA —ZZZF BE0T80T =F BB BB
2022 (after trading hours) EERILERE ~NAZTAR

Total Options RLERESH 24,750,000 49,750,000

granted
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21. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 21.

Details of share options granted (Continued)

A Included in the outstanding Options as at
31 December 2023, 750,000 Options were granted
to Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun, an independent non-
executive Director of the Company. All are exercised
during the year.

The movement of share options granted and
weighted average exercise prices of share options

idated Financial Statements

BRESTE (2)

REBRESSE (&)

A RZE-_=F+-_A=+—H2
MARITEERES  NR B BLIE
HITEERERE L T ER750,000
Mg - FN TR -

BB = ) M B g 91T
EE

Number of options

BREHE
2024 2023
—EmEF i

Outstanding at the beginning of FHRITE
the year 49,750,000 55,330,000
Lapsed during the year FAKR (10,500,000) (5,580,000)
Exercised during the year FARITHE (14,500,000) -
Outstanding at the end of the year F R AKITE 24,750,000 49,750,000
Exercisable at the end of the year FARATHE 24,750,000 49,750,000
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EE_

21.

22.

23.

F_WEFES A=+ —HIFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Details of share options granted (Continued)

The share options outstanding at 31 December
2024 have exercise prices of HK$0.780-0.800 (2023:
HK$0.305-0.800) per option and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 1 years (2023: 2 years).

During the year ended 31 December 2024,
10,500,000 options were lapsed (2023: 5,580,000
options were lapsed).

There were 24,750,000 (2023: 49,750,000) shares,
representing approximately 6.98% (2023: 17.69%)
of total issued share capital of the Company,
available for issue under the Option Scheme as at
the date of this report.

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

Net asset value per share is calculated by dividing the
net assets included in the consolidated statement of
financial position of approximately HK$172,017,000
(2023: HK$170,304,000) by the number of shares
in issue at 31 December 2024, being 354,818,016
(2023: 281,181,680).

CHARGE OF ASSETS AND MARGIN FACILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, margin facilities from a
regulated securities brokers were granted to the
Group which were secured by the Group’s listed
equity investment at FVPL, with a total market value
of approximately HK$500,000. As at 31 December
2024, the Group had not utilised against these
facilities.

21.

22.

23.

BRETE (E)
REBREFE (&)
RZEBE-_WME+__A=+—HBK1T
FRERENTEEAETNBRES
#0.780-0.8007T (T = =4F : B
0.305-0.8007T) * MN#E F I Feh & 4
FHAIF (ZEZ=F:29) -

He—Z - W&+ -_A=+—HItHF
€ > 10,500,000 B A #E 2 sk i (=
T — =4 :5,580,000) B A% #E 2 &k
) o

AR & B H#f - #£74524,750,0008% (=
%é:zi :49,750,000% ) f% 17+ 15 7

NAEEITRAEETEL6.98% (= F
Z=F:17.69% ) ' A AR BE B AR 4 5T
2| FLABE T

BREEFRE

BB EFENGE P BN RFTE
BB EFELE172,017,0007T (=
T~ = 4F: B ¥170,304,00070 ) B LA
RZE-_NF+A=+—HHE
1TI D 8L H 354,818,016/ (— T —=
F:281,181,6800% ) st &5 -

EEEARREERFEE
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XREESFKLERNARERDRES
EE MZEEENDUAEEETE
#4778 #5500,0007T 2 BB IE IR A 1
BFIRZ EM AR EEER -V
“HE+-ZA=1t—H AKEY
EE)RMZEREE-

BETE2EAERAA 2024 £ 161



Notes to the Conso
A IR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

24. DEFERRED TAXATION 24,
Unrecognised deferred tax assets arising from

idated Financial Statements

I FE B 1H
BT &AM EL 2 RERDIELER T
BE

2024 2023
—EINEF —T=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Deductible temporary differences FRBERE AR ESER
from changes in fair value of ZmEBRARKE
current equity investments at fair AREEHEELE
value through profit or loss ARG ER 90,594 88,624
Tax losses 758 18 5 18 88,947 88,478
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 179,541 177,102

Neither the tax losses nor the deductible temporary
differences expire under current tax legislation.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams.

Recognised deferred tax liabilities and unrecognised
deferred tax assets are not offset as there is no
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities.
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25. CASH USED IN OPERATIONS 25. EEMARS
2024 2023
—E-NE —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETT
Loss before tax BRI R E B (16,848) (14,783)
Changes in fair value of listed BRBRRAAEIRZ
equity investments at FVPL FTRAREZ AR EE 11,945 (6,787)
Impairment losses under expected HHEEEREXTH
credit loss model, net of reversal BEEE  NREE (829) (4,948)
Interests income from debt investment E#&IXE 2 F| E WA (1,200) (1,200)
Interest income from amount due JEWEH UL FIBZ
from securities broker FLE WA (3) 9)
Dividend income B E WA (26) (243)
Change in working capital: LEEDE
Financial assets at FVPL FBBRRALEINERZ
TREE (6,101) 13,204
Deposits and prepayments, we B
other receivable and due Hoh B R IE &2
from securities brokers JIE U 38 5 48 42 3R 2,646 8,430
Other payables and accruals and Hfth eI 50 M FEET B A A 2
due to securities broker HEREHL L 2 FOR (1) (562)
Cash used in operations EEMARS (10,417) (6,898)
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26.

27.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,
during the year, the Group had the following
transaction with Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong)
Limited, the investment manager of the Company,
which provides investment management service
to the Group. Investment manager is considered
a connected person under Rule 14A.08 of Listing
Rules.

26.

idated Financial Statements

BB ARS

BRI SR A ISR A H M EENFT
WEZRS/ERIN REAFEE K
SEEEREZS (F8)BRAF (K
NEZIERIE AL BIREIRE
EERB)IAEUTRGZ -RIELTE
HIZB14A 0815 REK B R B — A
EA L

2024 2023

—BCEF —E=F

Related party relationship Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000

B3 Bt 75 BB & REMHE BT BT

Investment manager of Investment management 455 600

the Company service fee

RRA 2 IRE KR REEERBE

455 600

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include
debt investment measured at amortised cost, bank
balances and cash, equity investments, deposits,
due from/to securities brokers, other receivables
and other payables and accruals. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in the respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies applied by the Group to
mitigate these risks are set out below. Management
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented in a timely and effective
manner.
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27.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Financial risk factors
Price risk

As set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements, certain of the Group’s equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss listed
in the stock market are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Therefore, the
Group’s investments in equity securities are exposed
to equity price risk. The management manages
exposure to the risk centrally by monitoring the
change of market prices of the equity from time to
time, and by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different profiles in Hong Kong. The sensitivity
analysis has been determined based on the exposure
to equity price risk. At the reporting date, if the
fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss had been 5% higher/lower while all
other variables were held constant, the Group's pre-
tax loss for the year would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$5,330,000 (2023: HK$5,622,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group is exposed to credit risk for all financial
assets that a counterparty in a transaction may
default on settlement, including debt investment
measured at amortised cost, deposits, bank balances,
other receivables and due from securities brokers.
The maximum exposure equals to the carrying
amount of these financial assets. The Group does
not provide any guarantees which would expose the
Group to credit risk.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Bank balances and amounts due from securities
brokers

Majority of the bank balances are deposited in
reputable large commercial banks with credit rating
of Baal issued by Moody's. The securities brokers
are leading and reputable and are assessed as having
low credit risk. The Group has not suffered any
significant losses arising from the non-performance
by these brokers in the past and the management
does not expect this position to change in the
future.

Debt investment measured at amortised cost

The Group invested in unlisted bond issued by a
listed company in Hong Kong which exposed to
credit risk. The credit risk of debt investment is
managed through an internal process. The Group
actively monitors the outstanding amounts owed by
the issuer assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition.

Other receivables and deposits

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has
concentration credit risk of 80% (2023: 80%) of
the total receivables was due from the Group's
largest debtor. However, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis, the Directors
review the recoverable amount of each individual
other receivables regularly to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are recognised for irrecoverable
debts. In this regard, the Directors consider that the

Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 27.
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at

cREREEEEREE (&)

tRRRREE (&)
= E 7R E R (&)
R-ZFZpFE+—H=+—HHRS

317 December 2024 B R F ORI R
The table below shows the credit quality and the TREATREBEAEEEEERNEE

BxrEeEERR (EX2REE
TEMER (FRIFEHEMENATER
BERASIE N ER)EE) M
R-ZF-WF+ZA=1t—HBHHNFX

maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group's credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging

classification as at 31 December 2024. The amounts RO -2V EeRREREER
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial FREEE
assets.
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E10E B EARKER 3R &t
At 31 December 2024 12-month/lifetime ECLs HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-Z-_MFE+=-A=+-0 N@EA 2HEHEEFE BETR BETR BETR BETR
Debt investment measured Lifetime ECL
at amortised cost (not credit-impaired) 20,924 - - 20,924
REHFEKATEZ 2HEREERE
BERE (REERE)
Deposits 12-month 49 - - 49
iz 1218 B
Due from securities brokers 12-month 4,358 - - 4,358
JE W78 5 48 42 7R 1218 A
Other receivables 12-month/lifetime ECLs
(credit-impaired) 35,602 - 1,288 36,890
H At fE W R 128R /2HEBEEER
(FERE)
Bank balances and cash 12-month 11,351 - - 11,351
RITEFRES 12188
72,284 - 1,288 73,572
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 27. SHIEREEBERBEK (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued) SEEREE (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EE bR EFE (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at RZFBZFF - H=+—HRE
37 December 2024 (Continued) e RFREE (B)
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
BIEER F2AREER FIMEER CEi
At 31 December 2023 12-month/lifetime ECLs HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZ-_=ZF+-A=+—H NEAR/:2HBEHEEEE BT BETT BB T BT
Debt investment measured Lifetime ECL
at amortised cost (not credit-impaired) 20,924 - - 20,924
REBHEK AT EZ FHEHREEER
BERRE (REEERE)
Deposits 12-month 47 - - 47
b 1218 A
Due from securities brokers 12-month 3,000 - - 3,000
FE W 3% 5 45 42 SR IE 1218 A
Other receivables 12-month/lifetime ECLs
(credit-impaired) 40,702 - 1,288 41,990
H th & YR IE 12@A/ 2HEHEEEE
(EERME)
Bank balances and cash 12-month 1,978 - - 1,978
RITEFRES 1218 A
66,651 - 1,288 67,939
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27.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at

31 December 2024 (Continued)

An analysis of changed in the gross amount and
impairment allowances of other receivables as at

27.

idated Financial Statements

cREREEEEREE (&)

SREABER (&)
EERRERBEFE (&)
REZFZPFfZH=4+—HRS
B R FREE ()
HMERFRER-_FT_OFER=-F
=+ A=+—BZEBXRE

31 December 2024 and 2023 is as follow: BiESHHHMT
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
FIRER Epl92 EIMER a5t
At 31 December 2024 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-ZBE-WMFE+ZA=+—H B¥T R BT T B¥T R BT T
Other receivables 35,602 - 1,288 36,890
H e W5k IR
Impairment allowances (4,703) - (1,288) (5,991)
AR
Net amounts
FEE 30,899 - - 30,899
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
F1EER F2MER 3R ER =
At 31 December 2023 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
W=E-=F+=A=+-8 BT BT BET T BT
Other receivables 40,702 - 1,288 41,990
Hh fE W kIR
Impairment allowances (5,377) - (1,288) (6,665)
AR
Net amounts
FRE 35,325 - - 35,325
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27.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at
31 December 2024 (Continued)

Credit risk for deposits at other financial institutions
is considered as not material taking into account the
good market reputations of the counter parties.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility through
the utilisation of margin facilities of securities
brokers. The Group will keep reviewing its financial
needs from time to time to determine the timing of
obtaining various borrowings or carrying out fund
raising activities.

As at 31 December 2024, the remaining
undiscounted contractual maturity profile of the
Group's non-derivative financial liabilities at the end
of the reporting period, based on the earliest date
on which the Group is required to settle at the end
of the reporting period, based on the remaining
contractual maturities, are with one year or on
demand (2023: within one year or on demand).

Capital management

The objectives of the Group's capital management are
to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to provide returns for shareholders.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments, including payment of dividend to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debts. No changes
were made in the objectives during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 27. TRIEMEEBERBEK (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued) cREKBER (&)
Capital management (Continued) BEXEHE (F)
Pursuant to the provision of articles of association RIBARNRABERME 2GR
of the Company, the Company may exercise its RERAITTEEEREN AR
borrowing power to borrow up to an aggregate HANREBRERMBEKREEENR
principal amount for the time being remaining RE M EAEEFEI50% NEE
discharged of all money borrowed by the Group not REGHEHBRER X (EBF
exceeding 50% of the net asset value. The Group R RARBRER) I E R R Bf
monitors capital on the basis of debt-to-adjusted BHRER BB HECRABE R X
capital ratio, which is net debt divided by adjusted N

capital. The debt-to-adjusted capital ratios at the
end of the financial period were as follows:

2024 2023

—ENF —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Due to securities broker ERBHELRL 2T - 1
Less: Due from securities brokers B R IR S AR a0 FRIE (4,358) (3,000)
Less: Bank balances and cash B RTEFLERES (11,351) (1,978)
Net receivable JE U 3R I8 F BE (15,709) (4,977)
Total equity BrEm 172,017 170,304
Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio BEEHCHBEERL R N/A R 3EH N/A 7 i
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28. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following presents the Group’s financial
instruments measured at fair value at the end of the
reporting period across the three levels of the fair
value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair Value
Measurement, with the fair value measurement
categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the entire measurement.
The levels of inputs are defined as follows:

o Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the Group can access
at the measurement date;

. Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly;

o Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for
the asset or liability.
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28. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 28. AQAREFE(E)
(a) Assets measured at fair value (@) BAREBEFEZEE
2024 —E-ME
The Group
X5E

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ E-E £=B &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETR BETR BETL BETR

Equity investment at fair ERARBERAAEIIRZ
value through profit or loss ~RA&KRE

Listed equity investments kAR E 106,597 - - 106,597
106,597 - - 106,597

2023 —T-=F

The Group
K5E

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ £-F £=F it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

EETT BETT BETT BETT

Equity investment at fair BRERELNBEIIRL
value through profit or loss BRAEE

Listed equity investments kAR E 112,441 - - 112,441
112,441 - - 112,441

During the year ended 31 December 2024, HE_T_NF+_HA=1+—

one equity investment has been suspended HIEFE —BRAKREER

trading on Hong Kong Stock Exchange and EABRHEEFEEE YHA

transferred from Level 1 to Level 3 of the fair NEFENE—EBEF=[E-

value measurements. The fair value of the WEERAREZ ARBEETE

suspended equity investment was determined REe

to be nil.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, HE-_ZT-_=F+-_A=+—

there were no transfers among Level 1, Level AtFE 2B F-EK

2 and Level 3 fair valve measurements. FEZBAnEECEHEE

%o

wEnrzErEaraRAA 2024 2 173



Notes to the Conso
A IR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_F_NEF _H="1—HItFE

idated Financial Statements

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION B AR R TR
2024 2023
—E_-_E —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T
Non-current assets IRBEE
Debt investment measured HEHENAGTEZ
at amortised cost BRI E 18,314 18,159
Amounts due from subsidiaries F& Y[t B A 7] F 1B 142,166 151,078
160,480 169,237
Current assets REBEE
Deposits and prepayments me RIER K 1,325 231
Bank balances and cash RITEFENMRE 11,008 1,632
12,333 1,863
Current liabilities REBEE
Amount due to a subsidiary BT — KB R A FE 2,921 3,042
Other payables and accruals  H B R & EFTEH 796 796
3,717 3,838
Net current liabilities REBBEEFEE 8,616 (1,975)
Total assets less current EEHERRBERS
liabilities 169,096 167,262
NET ASSETS EEFE 169,096 167,262
Capital and reserves IR 2 R f#
Share capital i 355 281
Reserves (Note) & (hat) 168,741 166,981
TOTAL EQUITY BMRER 169,096 167,262

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of

Directors on 20 March 2025.

SHUM Kit Lan Anita

Director Director
g EZE
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29.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued) 29. HBMRRE(E)
Note: Bt -
MOVEMENT OF RESERVE RE2H
Share Contribution Share option Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
R4 EE BAEH  BRERE R ER Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETL  BETR  #%TR #%TRT #%Tx
At 1 January 2024 R-Z-MF
—A—H 1,065,814 186,046 14,314 (1,099,193) 166,981
Issue of share upon TR R R
exercise of share option BITRAD 6,601 - (2,033) - 4,568
Issue of new shares BIEREET
under placing ey 13,919 - - - 13,919
Lapsed of share options BREXU - - (2,299) 2,299 -
Loss and total comprehensive FAEERZE
loss for the year EEARE - - - (16,727) (16,727)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZB-ME
ZRA=+- 1,086,334 186,046 9,982 (1,113,621) 168,741
1 January 2023 RZEZ=%F
—A—H 1,065,814 186,046 14,770 (1,084,984) 181,646
Lapsed of share options BlREXH - - (456) 456 -
Loss and total comprehensive  FREE R 2 E
loss for the year BREAE - - - (14,665) (14,665)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=F
+-A=+—H 1,065,814 186,046 14,314 (1,099,193) 166,981

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium, subject to a solvency test and the
Company’s memorandum and article of association,
is distributable to the shareholders. The Company
had a distributable reserve of HK$166,981,000 as at
31 December 2023 (2022: HK$181,646,000).

BREREHSRRE TRBAMERNEE
Bl e AN X B AR A R KA I 48 Bl AR
BT BOaBaAHIRTRR- AR
ARZZE_=F+A=+—HzA#
ok BB #166,981,000T (=&
~ T4 A¥181,646,0007T ) °

BETE2EAERAA 2024 £ 175



Financial Summary

YAZ HAL &R
B E
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-_ME —ET-=F —T-_— —E-—F —E-ZTF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT EETr BT A% TrT  AETx
Results E4
(Loss)/Gain from the sale of HEBBERE
listed investments at fair NAEHEZ
value through profit or loss k&
(B#B) e (2,821) (23,593) (47,047) 3,030 14
Loss before tax BREAEE (16,848) (14,783) (44,080) (22,644) (42,368)
Income tax FrigH - - - - -
Loss attributable to equity ARAAERRHAA
holders of the Company L &8 (16,848) (14,783) (44,080) (22,644) (42,368)
Assets and liabilities BERAE
Total assets EERE 172,857 171,145 186,490 217,720 230,110
Total liabilities BERS (840) (841) (1,403) (671) (617)
Total equity BRR 172,017 170,304 185,087 217,049 229,493
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